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Key Highlights

Financial highlights

Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 Change (%)

(RMB in thousands, except percentages)

Revenue 1,623,464 1,136,532 43

 Smart analytics and operation services 736,580 533,384 38

 Precision marketing services 422,422 264,505 60

 Insurance distribution services 464,462 338,643 37

Gross profit 1,194,628 838,137 43

Operating profit 80,037 31,825 151

Loss for the year note (3,604,033) (109,061) 3,205

Non-IFRS measures

Non-IFRS profit for the year 141,160 80,044 76

Non-IFRS EBITDA 233,455 166,511 40
 

Note: Our net loss was RMB3,604.03 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was mainly attributable to a loss of RMB3,697.29 

million on changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares. Upon the completion of the Listing, our redeemable 

convertible preferred shares were converted to our ordinary shares, and no further loss or gain on changes in fair value of the redeemable 

convertible preferred shares will be recorded afterwards.

Revenue

1.623B

Number of FSP
clients

5,700+

Number of Key 
FSP clients

Key FSP client 
retention rate

Key FSP client net 
dollar expansion rate

257 92% 118%

Year ended December 31, 2021

Non-IFRS profitNon-IFRS EBITDA

0.141B0.233B1.195B

Gross profit
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Business Review

Business Review for the Reporting Period
We are a leading independent AI-powered technology platform in China serving the financial services industry. 

As of December 31, 2021, we had served more than 5,700 FSP clients, our clients include substantially all of 

China’s national banks, more than 900 regional banks, substantially all of China’s consumer finance companies 

and major insurance companies, and a variety of other FSPs. We provide cloud-based services through our big 

data and AI technologies to support the needs of FSPs in decision making, smart analytics, smart operation 

management, precision marketing and wealth management, enabling them to reduce exposure to fraud and 

improve their underwriting, risk management and consumer operation efficiency and effectiveness. Our cloud-

based SaaS platform allows us to deploy individual product modules for our FSP clients’ process via application 

programming interfaces (API) integrations to their IT infrastructure and workflows. We are also able to package 

various modules and bespoke models into customized end-to-end solutions. Cloud-based nature of our platform 

enables us to quickly adapt and deliver products and services to satisfy ever-evolving needs from FSPs, which, 

in turn, generate an enormous amount of data insights and industry know-how that enables us to continuously 

improve our smart analytics and operation capabilities.

In 2021, due to the strong demand for precision marketing and digital transformation from FSPs, we have 

experienced significant growth, highlighted by the following key metrics:

• As of December 31, 2021, among more than 5,700 FSP clients we served, we cumulatively had 3,318 

paying FSP clients that subscribe our products and services, representing an increase of 27.5% as 

compared with 2,602 paying FSP clients as of December 31, 2020.

• We define “Key FSP clients” as licenced financial institutions that individually contributes more than 

RMB300,000 total revenue in a given calendar year. We had 237 Key FSP clients in 2020, 217 of which 

were still our paying FSP clients as of December 31, 2021, representing a retention rate of 91.6%.

• As of December 31, 2021, 257 of our paying FSP clients were Key FSP clients, representing an increase of 

20 new Key FSP clients as compared with 237 as of December 31, 2020, and the average revenue per user 

(“ARPU”) increased by 24.8% to RMB5.12 million in 2021.

• We achieved a net dollar expansion rate of 118.1% in 2021 for our Key FSP clients in 2020. Net dollar 

expansion rate is an indicator for our long-term business relationship with our Key FSP clients and our 

ability to retain and grow revenue from Key FSP clients.
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Business Review (Continued)

Smart Analytics and Operation Services
In 2021, we continued to build a comprehensive product ecosystem to satisfy the growing demand of our FSP 

clients in digital operation and online transformation, including AI-enabled smart servicing voicebot, cloud-based 

operation SaaS platform, wealth management solutions and customer experience management software. For 

the year ended December 31, 2021, our revenue from smart analytics and operation services continued to grow 

significantly to RMB736.58 million, representing an increase of 38.1% from RMB533.38 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2020.

In terms of smart user operation, we successfully developed a smart servicing voicebot based on our own 

patented technology of “voice interruption method and device”, which has been used in many financial 

scenarios. The voicebot integrates several intelligent interactive technologies such as speech recognition, 

semantic understanding, dialogue management and speech synthesis, and is characterized by reading 

comprehension, multi-round dialogue and intelligent interruption, and the accuracy rate of its customer intention 

recognition can reach more than 95.0%. We also integrate model-customized Automatic Speech Recognition 

(ASR), Natural Language Understanding (NLU) and Text-to-Speech (TTS) into the softswitch system, which 

can significantly reduce the network data transmission loss, bring interruption and delay to millisecond level, 

provide millisecond-level voice interaction and feedback, and improve the user experience with smart voice 

interaction. With machine learning and AI technologies build-in, the voicebot can automatically optimize the 

model based on user interaction performance in real time. Under various financial scenarios, such as user 

analytics, smart strategy deployment, existing user activation and user interaction, our smart servicing voicebot 

can reduce operational costs and provide superior customer service experience to our FSP clients. Because of 

the high efficiency of our smart user operation services, we can earn service fees from our FSP clients based on 

successful conversions, and better support their digital transformation process.

In 2021, we acquired approximately 52.0% of the equity interest in All Union, which is a leading comprehensive 

solution service provider in China that assists banks in carrying out smart user operations. It has developed 

a smart routing distribution platform that connects banks, users, scenarios, merchants, and a one-stop cloud 

operation SaaS platform. Since its establishment, All Union has established strategic partnerships with major 

state-owned and large joint-stock commercial banks to cater for various payment scenarios in China, such as 

China UnionPay, WeChat Pay, Alipay, Meituan Pay and Kuaishou Pay. By the end of 2021, All Union had served 

more than 10 national banks in China as its paying clients. By leveraging the leading one-stop cloud operation 

SaaS platform of All Union, we can further expand smart operations and better support our FSP clients in 

maintaining their users’ loyalty and attracting new users to achieve more robust growth.

We started providing wealth management solutions to major state-owned banks and securities companies in the 

second half of 2021, and have already started a pilot scheme with one Key FSP client. We have developed a total 

solution and certain system tools to support the client’s core needs in expanding new users, increasing activity 

of existing users and asset under management (AUM). We help develop accurate marketing strategies based 

on the combination of customer insights and banks’ operational needs. We believe our wealth management 

solutions will help enrich our product offerings in serving banks and securities companies.
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Business Review (Continued)

Data security and privacy protection are one of our top priorities. We pay more attention to strengthening the 

protection of privacy information through the development and utilization of AI technologies, such as federated 

learning, secured multi-party computation, privacy-preserving computation, to serve our FSP clients in a 

more secure and stable way. In 2021, we were granted two national invention patents for federated learning 

technologies. With the two patented technologies, we can improve the efficiency and accuracy of anomaly 

detection through an unsupervised algorithm, enrich joint AI modeling with different financial institutions, and 

push anti-fraud ability to a new level. We also officially launched Indra, a groundbreaking secure multi-party 

computing platform that meets key privacy protection needs in the process of data development. Indra offers 

a safe and efficient data cooperation model for partners and financial institutions, enabling them to tap into the 

value of data whilst ensuring compliance with data usage policies and preventing data leakage. In 2021, Indra 

has successfully passed the fifth batch of trusted privacy computing evaluation by China Academy of Information 

and Communications Technology (CAICT).

The table below sets forth the key operating and financial data for our smart analytics and operation services in 

2020 and 2021.

2021 2020 Change (%)
 

Revenue (RMB’000) 736,580 533,384 38

Number of paying FSP clients 1,551 1,257 23

Average revenue of paying FSP clients (RMB in million) 0.48 0.42 14

Revenue from Key FSP clients (RMB’000) 615,913 468,925 31

Number of Key FSP clients 193 176 10

Average revenue per Key FSP clients (RMB in million) 3.19 2.66 20

Percentage of revenue contribution by Key FSP clients 84.0% 88.0% -4

Revenue from recurring Key FSP clients (RMB’000) 534,598 371,423 44

Precision Marketing Services
Our precision marketing services experienced very strong growth in the first half of 2021 due to stronger than 

expected market rebound and the improving operational efficiency. In the second half of 2021, with the gradual 

release of accumulated marketing budget of financial institutions and the market fluctuations caused by Covid-19 

epidemic, the growth rate gradually returned to the normal level. For the year ended December 31, 2021, our 

revenue from precision marketing services increased by 59.7% to RMB422.42 million from RMB264.51 million 

for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Business Review (Continued)

In 2021, based on our proprietary financial products recommendation platform our precision marketing business 

constantly seek new traffic channels and customer groups by expanding new scenes to obtain high-quality traffic 

and improve conversion efficiency. Relying on our comprehensive capabilities of financial products integration 

and user analytics, we have plugged in a lot of scene resources, such as e-commerce, travel, payment, short 

video, education, and other scene channels to absorb different types of high-quality customers. In addition, 

we also carry out in-depth cooperation modes such as joint modelling with some channels. Our models and 

strategy engines can be optimized based on the update of scenes and successful recommendations. With 

flexible product process and access mode, our precision marketing services can realize AI matching and smart 

routing distribution by one-stop access to multiple channels, which can significantly reduce the scenario-based 

marketing cost of FSP clients and further improve the conversion rate and user value.

The table below sets forth the key operating and financial data for our precision marketing services in 2020 and 

2021.

2021 2020 Change (%)
 

Revenue (RMB’000) 422,422 264,505 60

Number of paying FSP clients 95 132 -28

Average revenue of paying FSP clients (RMB in million) 4.45 2.00 123

Revenue from Key FSP clients (RMB’000) 237,481 168,856 41

Number of Key FSP clients 27 29 -7

Average revenue per Key FSP clients (RMB in million) 8.80 5.82 51

Percentage of revenue contribution by Key FSP clients 56.0% 64.0% -8

Revenue from recurring Key FSP clients (RMB’000) 191,889 128,997 49

Insurance Distribution Services
Our insurance distribution platform empowers brokers with data-driven tools and analytics to facilitate efficient 

and effective insurance sales and customer relationship management. Although China’s insurance industry, 

especially the scale of life insurance premiums, showed an obvious downward trend in 2021 compared with 

2020, our insurance distribution services maintained a strong growth. For the year ended December 31, 2021, 

our revenue from insurance distribution services increased by 37.2% to RMB464.46 million from RMB338.64 

million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Business Review (Continued)

We provide innovative integrated insurance distribution services through Liming. The core of Liming’s one-stop 

insurance distribution service is our mobile app Liming Box, a mobile based data-driven customer relationship 

management (CRM) platform for our insurance brokers only. By leveraging analytics of massive data insights 

and AI technologies, Liming Box can empower our brokers with accurate customer portraits and preferences 

for insurance products, thereby improving brokers efficiency. In addition, we have a flat broker organization 

structure with only two layers, which enables us to better motivate our brokers, achieve better incentives and 

increase communication and operational efficiency. As of December 31, 2021, we had 5,472 insurance brokers 

with extensive experience in the insurance industry. We will keep expanding our insurance broker team and 

improving their productivity.

In 2021, Liming cooperated with 119 paying insurance companies, and the total premium collected from the 

insurance products distributed through Liming was RMB1,519.53 million, of which the premium collected on the 

life and health insurance products was RMB1,165.95 million. Our revenue comes primarily from commissions 

on the first-year premium, as well as recurring commissions from renewals. Currently, the life insurance policies 

placed through our platform are long term policies with an average term of over 10 years, and the policy holder 

renewal rate is over 95.0% as of December 31, 2021.

Business outlook
As a leading independent AI-powered technology platform in China serving the financial services industry, we 

will accomplish our mission with persistence. In 2022, we plan to implement the following strategies, which 

we believe, will further strengthen our core competitive strengths and enable us to capture rising business 

opportunities:

Solidify leadership in technology.  We will continue to invest in cutting-edge underlying technologies and improve 

our existing technology infrastructure, such as AI algorithm and automatic real-time analytics, with a goal to 

provide a more secure, stable, and scalable services to our FSP clients. Specifically, we will further develop our 

AutoML technology to train more unique models in the financial industry field to strengthen our ability of basic 

structural standardization. We will also enhance our distributed relationship mapping capabilities, which differ 

from traditional knowledge graphs, and are a set of concepts and technologies accumulated from our years 

of work in financial application scenarios. We will continue investing resources to develop privacy-preserving 

computation for privacy protection. Furthermore, we aim to strengthen our cloud infrastructure by adding more 

processing power and simultaneous date backup facilities, as well as optimizing cloud operating system to 

improve our service capability and reliability. In addition, we plan to continue to invest in talent recruitment and 

training in the fields of AI, big data and cloud computing to strengthen our technological advantage.
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Business Review (Continued)

Enhance and expand our products and services.  In the context of digital transformation of financial institutions, 

we are dedicated to continually improving the capability and innovation of our products and services to cater to 

their evolving needs. We plan to offer cloud-based AI solutions with digital transformation consulting services 

for FSPs to help them speed up digitalization. In addition, because of the increasing demand for existing 

consumer operating, we will continue to expand our product offerings accordingly. We will further enlarge our 

cloud-based smart analytics and operation services to offer enhanced decision-making support engines, smart 

marketing strategies with smart servicing voicebot for FSP clients to activate their users and manage their users’ 

experience, thereby improving their operating efficiency. We will improve the revenue percentage of our smart 

operation services and keep investing in product innovation to expand our service offerings and explore new use 

cases.

Further expand our client base and deepen client relationship.  We will continue following our “Land and Expand” 

model to acquire FSP clients and grow our client relationships over time. We will further enhance our business 

development capabilities, further expand our footprint in the financial services industry, and continue to deepen 

our client relationship by offering more comprehensive products and services covering the entire transaction 

life cycle. We are planning to expand our client base to securities companies, and now we are in dialogue with 

a number of securities companies to develop data analytics products and services to improve efficiency of their 

marketing and operation processes. We will continue focusing on converting FSPs to our paying FSP clients and 

Key FSP clients, and increasing both the ARPU of Key FSP clients and the retention rate.

Pursue strategic acquisitions that complement our leadership position.  We will continue to expand our analytics 

and operation capabilities across the whole financial industry. While we expect this will occur primarily through 

organic growth, we have acquired and will continue to acquire assets and businesses that strengthen our value 

proposition to our FSP clients. We primarily focus on acquisitions of differentiated cloud-based SaaS platforms 

that are complementary to our own, analytical applications or models that can leverage our proprietary data 

insights and businesses that address new market opportunities. For example, our acquisition of All Union 

enhanced our smart operation services offerings. We will continue to maintain a disciplined approach to pursuing 

acquisitions.



11ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Management Discussion and Analysis

Description of Major Components of Our Consolidated Statement of Profit  
or Loss
The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for 2021 and 2020. The 
operating results in any period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future 
period.

Year ended December 31,

2021 2020

(RMB in thousands)

Revenues

 Smart analytics and operation services 736,580 533,384

 Precision marketing services 422,422 264,505

 Insurance distribution services 464,462 338,643

Total revenues 1,623,464 1,136,532

Cost of sales (428,836) (298,395)

Gross profit 1,194,628 838,137

Other (loss)/income, net (23,558) 34,642

Research and development expenses (252,006) (201,025)

General and administrative expenses (262,763) (199,857)

Sales and marketing expenses (575,988) (439,555)

Impairment loss (276) (517)

Profit from operations 80,037 31,825

Net finance costs (585) (10,161)

Changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through 

 profit or loss 470 (775)

Changes in fair value of derivative instruments 20,727 –

Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares (3,697,294) (131,486)

Loss before taxation (3,596,645) (110,597)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (7,388) 1,536

Loss for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company (3,603,016) (110,555)

Non-controlling interests (1,017) 1,494

Total comprehensive income for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Non-IFRS Measures
To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are presented in accordance with IFRSs, we also 

use non-IFRS (loss)/profit and non-IFRS EBITDA as additional financial measures, which are not required by, or 

presented in accordance with, IFRS. We believe these non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of operating 

performance from period to period and company to company by eliminating potential impacts of items which our 

management considers non-indicative of our operating performance.

We believe these measures provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating 

our consolidated statement of profit or loss in the same manner as they help our management. However, our 

presentation of non-IFRS (loss)/profit and non-IFRS EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures 

presented by other companies. The use of these non-IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and 

you should not consider them in isolation from, or as substitutes for an analysis of, our results of operations or 

financial condition as reported under IFRSs.

We define non-IFRS (loss)/profit as loss for the year/period, excluding share-based compensation, fair value 

changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares and listing expenses. We define non-IFRS EBITDA as 

EBITDA excluding share-based compensation, fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares and 

listing expenses. We exclude these items because they are not expected to result in future cash payments that 

are recurring in nature and they are not indicative of our core operating results and business outlook.

The following table reconciles our non-IFRS profit for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and non-IFRS 

EBITDA presented to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance 

with IFRSs, which is loss for the year:

Reconciliation of loss to non-IFRS profit for the year:

Year ended December 31,

2021 2020

(RMB in thousands)

Loss for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

Add

Share-based compensation(1) 22,787 36,718

Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares(2) 3,697,294 131,486

Listing expenses(3) 25,112 20,901

Non-IFRS profit for the year 141,160 80,044
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Reconciliation of loss to EBITDA and non-IFRS EBITDA for the year:

Year ended December 31,

2021 2020

(RMB in thousands)

Loss for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

Add

Net finance costs 585 10,161

Income tax expense/(benefit) 7,388 (1,536)

Depreciation 82,121 76,537

Amortisation 2,201 1,305

EBITDA (3,511,738) (22,594)

Add

Share-based compensation(1) 22,787 36,718

Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares(2) 3,697,294 131,486

Listing expenses(3) 25,112 20,901

Non-IFRS EBITDA 233,455 166,511

Notes:

(1) Share-based compensation relates to the share options and restricted share awards that we granted under our share incentive plan, which 

is a non-cash expense that is commonly excluded from similar non-IFRS measures adopted by other companies in our industry.

(2) Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares represent the losses arising from change in fair value of our issued 

redeemable convertible preferred shares, which were recognised as financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Such changes will 

no longer exist as our redeemable convertible preferred shares converted into equity upon completion of the Listing and are non-cash in 

nature and are not directly related to our operating activities.

(3) Listing expenses relates to the global offering of the Company, which is one-off in nature and is not directly related to our operating 

activities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Revenue
Our total revenue increased by 42.8% from RMB1,136.53 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to 

RMB1,623.46 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable to industry growth and our 

enhanced capabilities of providing products and services.

Our revenue from smart analytics and operation services increased by 38.1% from RMB533.38 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2020 to RMB736.58 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily 

attributable to improvement of our comprehensive product ecosystem and growing demand from our FSP 

clients.

Our revenue from precision marketing services increased by 59.7% from RMB264.51 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2020 to RMB422.42 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable 

to stronger than expected demand for customer acquisition from our FSP clients, as well as our enhanced 

efficiency and precision in user acquisition and accuracy in matching and recommendation.

Our revenue from insurance distribution services increased by 37.2% from RMB338.64 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2020 to RMB464.46 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable 

to market recovery and our broker team’s improved productivity.

Cost of sales
The cost of sales increased by 43.7% from RMB298.40 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to 

RMB428.84 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable to an increase of RMB72.18 

million in insurance brokerage commission costs, an increase of RMB27.71 million in data service costs, an 

increase of RMB23.00 million in staff costs and share-based compensation. The increase in insurance brokerage 

commission costs and data service costs were primarily driven by significant increase in revenues. The increase 

in staff costs was mainly due to the increase in our operation personnel for smart analytics and operation 

services.

Gross profit and gross margin
As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased by 42.5% from RMB838.14 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2020 to RMB1,194.63 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The Group’s gross 

margin remained consistent at approximately 73.7% for both of the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Research and development expenses
The Group’s research and development expenses increased by 25.4% from RMB201.03 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2020 to RMB252.01 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable 

to increases in the headcount of our research and development personnel and the expansion of our research 

project.

General and administrative expenses
The Group’s general and administrative expenses increased by 31.5% from RMB199.86 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2020 to RMB262.76 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable 

to an increase of RMB29.18 million in professional services fee, an increase of RMB22.86 million in staff costs 

and share-based compensation. The increase of professional services fee was mainly related to the completion 

of global offering in 2021. The increase of staff costs was mainly due to the increase in our administrative 

personnel from the Group expansion.

Sales and marketing expenses
Our sales and marketing expenses increased by 31.0% from RMB439.56 million for the year ended December 

31, 2020 to RMB575.99 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to an increase of 

RMB87.63 million in advertising and information technology services expenses as a result of increased demand 

from precision marketing services and an increase of RMB39.05 million in staff costs due to our expansion of 

the selling and marketing teams to support the expansion of data analytics, insurance distribution services and 

new initiatives.

Other (loss)/income, net
Our net other loss was RMB23.56 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared with net other 

income of RMB34.64 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. This is primarily due to a foreign currency 

exchange loss of RMB97.71 million from the depreciation of USD against RMB. We have entered into several 

foreign exchange forwards and options to manage our foreign exchange exposure risks, realized a gain of 

RMB34.36 million. A gain of RMB20.73 million was recorded as changes of fair value of derivative instruments 

for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was subsequently fully realised.

Net finance costs
Net finance cost primarily consists of interest expenses on bank loans and lease liabilities and interest income 

from bank deposits. Our net finance costs decreased by 94.2% from RMB10.16 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2020 to RMB0.59 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily as a result of an 

increase of RMB7.33 million in interest income from bank deposits.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares
Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares increased to a loss of RMB3,697.29 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2021 from a loss of RMB131.49 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, 

resulting from significant increase in the valuation of our Company, which was determined by the offering price 

of the Company’s shares in our global offering on March 31, 2021.

Income tax (expense)/benefit
We had income tax benefit of RMB1.54 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, while we had income 

tax expense of RMB7.39 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable to the decrease of 

deferred tax asset from utilizing accumulated losses carried forward.

Loss for the year
As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss for the year increased from RMB109.06 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2020 to RMB3,604.03 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to an increase 

of RMB3,697.29 million in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares upon the Listing. Upon the 

completion of our Listing, our redeemable convertible preferred shares were converted into our ordinary shares 

and consequently were reclassified from liabilities to equity. Afterwards, no further loss or gain on changes in 

fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred shares will be recorded.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Our current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent the financial products in which we 

invested. These investments include certain low-risk wealth management products and trust plans issued by 

financial institutions in the PRC. Our current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were RMB300.33 

million and RMB806.10 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The decrease of our investment 

in financial products was mainly due to the maturity of our investments. As of March 23, 2022, the majority of 

the outstanding balance of our investments as of December 31, 2021 has been recovered or can be redeemed 

at any time during the working hours and expected investment income realised.
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Key Financial Ratios
The following table sets forth our key financial ratios for the years indicated:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Total revenue growth 42.8% (9.9%)

Smart analytics and operation services 38.1% 1.6%

Precision marketing services 59.7% (34.7%)

Insurance distribution services 37.2% 1.9%

Gross margin(1) 73.6% 73.7%

Net margin(2) (222.0%) (9.6%)

Gearing ratio(3) 0.15 1.95
 

Notes:

(1) Gross margin equals gross profit divided by revenues for the year and multiplied by 100%.

(2) Net margin equals loss divided by revenues for the year and multiplied by 100%.

(3) Gearing ratio equals total liabilities divided by total assets as of the end of the year.

We analysed and disclosed the fluctuations reasons of our total revenue growth and gross margin in the section 
of Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Our net margin decreased from -9.6% for the year ended December 31, 2020 to -222.0% for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the increase in changes in the fair value of redeemable 
convertible preferred shares.
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Liquidity and source of funding and borrowing
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, other than the proceeds from the Listing, we funded 

our cash requirements principally from cash generated from our operations. The Group had cash and cash 

equivalents of RMB3,346.49 million and RMB41.95 million as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 

respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, the Group had bank loans of approximately RMB51.00 million. The table below sets 

forth our short-term bank loans:

Short term loans

Loan Balance 

(RMB’000) Loan Period

Interest Rate 

(per annum 

unless otherwise 

stated)

Bank of Beijing 5,000.00 1 year 4.05%

Bank of Communications 5,000.00 1 year 3.85%

Zhongguancun Bank 5,000.00 1 year 6.50%

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd 10,000.00 1 year 4.00%

Bank of Jiangsu 3,000.00 1 year 5.25%

China Guangfa Bank 4,000.00 1 year 4.00%

Beijing Zhongguancun Micro-lending Co., Ltd 19,000.00 4 months 12.00%

Significant Investments
The Group did not make or hold any significant investments for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The financial products that we invested include certain low-risk wealth management products and trust plans 

issued by financial institutions in the PRC. The Board confirmed that the transactions in these financial assets for 

the Reporting Period, on a standalone basis and aggregate basis, did not constitute notifiable transactions under 

Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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Material acquisitions and disposals
On October 8, 2021, the Group’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Bairong Ruicheng Information Technology 

Co., Ltd. entered into an Equity Transfer Agreement, along with a series of affiliated agreements to acquire an 

approximately 52.0% of the entire issued share capital of All Union. The total consideration for the acquisition 

was approximately RMB155.99 million, all of which was agreed to settle in cash.

Further details of the acquisition can be found in the announcement of the Company published on October 10, 

2021.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, we did not conduct any material acquisitions or disposals 

of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Pledge of assets
The Group had not pledged any of our assets as at December 31, 2021.

Future plans for material investments or capital asset
Save for the expansion plan as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the 

Prospectus, the Group did not have detailed future plans for material investments or capital assets.

Gearing ratio
As at December 31, 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio (i.e. total liabilities divided by total assets) was 0.15 (as at 

December 31, 2020: 1.95).

Foreign exchange exposure
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group mainly operated in China and the majority of the 

transactions were settled in RMB, the Company’s consolidated affiliated entities’ functional currency. As at 

December 31, 2021, except for the proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares relating to the global offering 

which is exposed to foreign currency risk with respect to the Company’s monetary assets denominated in 

foreign currencies, the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations. The Group 

has entered into several foreign exchange forwards and options to manage its foreign exchange exposure risks.

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2021.

Capital commitment
The Group had no material capital commitment as at December 31, 2021.
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Impact of Covid-19
Since the outbreak of Covid-19 in early 2020, we have immediately taken measures to maintain effective and 

high-quality operation. The pandemic of Covid-19 continued in 2022. Due to the fast spreading of the “omicron” 

variant, China experienced a serious Covid-19 outbreak in the first few months in 2022.

All of our revenue is generated in China. Our results of operations and financial condition will be affected by the 

spread of Covid-19. The extent to which Covid-19 impacts our results of operations will depend on the future 

developments of the outbreak, including new information concerning the global severity of and actions taken to 

contain the outbreak, which are highly uncertain and unpredictable. In addition, our results of operations could 

be adversely affected to the extent that the outbreak harms the Chinese economy in general.

The global spread of Covid-19 and actions taken in response to the virus have negatively affected workforces, 

customers, consumer confidence, financial markets, consumer spending and credit markets, caused significant 

economic and business disruption, volatility and financial uncertainty, and led to a significant economic 

downturn, including in the markets where we operate. Although the Covid-19 outbreak had caused delays in 

the FSP clients’ subscriptions for our services in recent years, especially our precision marketing and insurance 

distribution services, we expect the Covid-19 outbreak will help to expand AI-powered technology utilization in 

FSPs’ online business process in the long term.

Employees and remuneration policy
As at December 31, 2021, the Group had a total of 1,296 employees. The following table sets forth the total 

number of employees by function as of December 31, 2021:

Function

As of 

December 31, 

2021

Sales and marketing 310

Research and development 654

Customer service 102

General administration 230

Total 1,296
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Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. As part of our human 

resources strategy, we offer employees competitive compensation packages, including competitive salaries, 

performance-based cash bonuses, and other incentives. The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for 

the year ended December 31, 2021 was RMB494.99 million, as compared to RMB383.16 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2020.

The Company also has adopted a post-IPO share option scheme and a share award scheme to incentivize its 

employees.

To maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of our employees, we regularly organize training activities for 

our employees.
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report together with the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group for the year ended December 31, 2021.

General information
The Company was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on June 21, 2018 as an exempted limited 

liability company. The Company’s Class B Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 

March 31, 2021.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal business of the Company’s 

subsidiaries is AI-powered technology services. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the year 

ended December 31, 2021 is set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

All of the Group’s operating assets are located in the PRC and all of the Company’s revenue and operating 

profits are derived from the PRC during the Reporting Period. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on 

geographical locations is provided.

Business review
A business review of the Group, as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a fair review 

of the Company’s business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company, particulars 

of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year, an indication 

of likely future developments in the Group’s business, an analysis of the Group’s financial performance and the 

Group’s key relationships with its stakeholders who have a significant impact on the Group and on which the 

Group’s success depends, is set out in the “Business review” and “Management discussion and analysis” on 

pages 5 to 21 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Our business involves certain risks as set out in the section headed “Risk factors” in the Prospectus. The 

following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are 

beyond its control.

• We operate in a rapidly evolving market, which makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects.

• We face challenges from the evolving regulatory environment and user attitudes towards data privacy and 

protection.

• Actual or alleged failure to comply with data privacy and protection laws and regulations could materially 

and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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• Our historical growth is not indicative of our future performance, and if we fail to manage our operations 

and expenses during our rapid expansion, our business, results of operations and financial condition could 

be harmed.

• We have incurred net losses and negative operating cash flow in the past, which we may continue to 

experience in the future.

• If we fail to develop and innovate our products and services, our business, financial performance and 

prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

• Our business could be materially and adversely harmed by the tightening of laws, regulations or standards 

that affect financial institutions or non-financial institutions.

• If we are not able to continue to broaden data access in the future, our business, results of operations and 

financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

• If we are deemed to engage in a personal credit reporting business and violate any PRC laws or regulations 

governing personal credit reporting businesses, our business, financial condition, results of operations and 

prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

• If our data labels are out of date, inaccurate or lack credible information, we may not be able to provide 

quality services for our clients, which could adversely impact our business.

• Our arrangements with FSP clients are typically not exclusive. Failure to maintain relationships with existing 

FSP clients, especially our major clients, or develop new ones may materially and adversely affect our 

business and results of operations.

Environmental policies and performance
The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development, 

protecting the environment and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Details of such will 

be set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and as may be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance 

Report to be published, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 

impact on the operations of the Group.

Connected transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2021, save as disclosed in this annual report, no related party transaction 

disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements falls under the definition of “connected 

transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for which disclosure is 

required.

Contractual Arrangements
Background to the Contractual Arrangements
We currently conduct our smart analytics and operation services, precision marketing services and insurance 

distribution services (the “Relevant Businesses”) through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC as PRC 

Laws, or their implementation by relevant government authorities, generally prohibit or restrict foreign ownership 

in the Relevant Businesses. Currently, PRC Laws restrict foreign ownership of value-added telecommunications 

service providers (in addition to imposing a qualification requirement on the foreign owners).

As a result of the restrictions imposed by PRC Laws, we are unable to own or hold any direct equity interest in 

our Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the term ‘ownership’ or the relevant concept, as applied to our 

Company in this document, refers to an economic interest in the assets or businesses through the Contractual 

Arrangements without holding any equity interest in our Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The Contractual 

Arrangements, through which we are able to exercise control over and derive the economic benefits from our 

Consolidated Affiliated Entities, are narrowly tailored to achieve our business purpose and minimise the potential 

for conflict with relevant PRC Laws.

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the foreign ownership restrictions described herein and as 

set out in the Prospectus.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements and actions taken to mitigate the risks
We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual Arrangements. Further details of these risks 

are set out on pages 79 to 84 of the Prospectus.

• If the PRC government deems that our contractual arrangements with our variable interest entity do 

not comply with PRC regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or if these 

regulations or the interpretation of existing regulations change in the future, we could be subject to severe 

penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in those operations.

• Our current corporate structure and business operations may be affected by the newly enacted Foreign 

Investment Law.

• We rely on contractual arrangements with our variable interest entity and its shareholders to exercise 

control over our business, which may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing operational 

control.

• If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of Beijing Bairong, the ownership transfer 

may subject us to certain limitations and substantial costs.

• The shareholders of our variable interest entity may have potential conflicts of interest with us, which may 

materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition.

• Our contractual arrangements with our variable interest entity may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax 

authorities and they may determine that we or our variable interest entity owe additional taxes, which could 

negatively affect our financial condition and the value of your investment.

• We may lose the ability to use and benefit from assets held by our variable interest entity and its 

subsidiaries that are material to the operation of our business if the entity goes bankrupt or become subject 

to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The structuring and implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, including the detailed terms of the 

Contractual Arrangements, as discussed herein, is designed to mitigate these risks.
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PRC laws and regulations
Smart analytics and operation services and precision marketing services

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access (2020 Edition) 

(外商投資准入特別管理措施(負面清單)(2020)) (the “Negative List”), provision of value-added telecommunications 

services falls within the ‘restricted’ category. As such, the shareholding percentage of a foreign investor in 

companies engaged in value-added telecommunications services shall not exceed 50%. Moreover, pursuant 

to the Administrative Measures on Internet Information Services (互聯網信息服務管理辦法), a provider of 
‘operational internet information services’ (namely services involving the provision of information or website-

design services through the internet to internet-users for a fee) is required to obtain an ICP licence. See 
“Regulations–Regulation on Foreign Investment” in the Prospectus for details of limitations on foreign 

ownership in PRC companies conducting value-added telecommunications services.

Since our smart analytics and operation and precision marketing businesses involve the operation of commercial 

internet information services, which is a sub-category of valued-added telecommunications business, for which 

an ICP licence is required, our smart analytics and operation and precision marketing businesses are subject to 

foreign ownership restrictions. Therefore, our smart analytics and operation and precision marketing services are 

conducted by, and ICP licences are held by, Beijing Bairong and Guangzhou Shurong Internet Micro-lending Co., 

Ltd..

Insurance distribution services

We offer insurance distribution services through Liming and its brokers. Although insurance distribution 

services are not strictly subject to foreign investment restrictions, our insurance distribution services are fully 

integrated with our underlying data analytics and customer relationship management systems and cannot 

be separated from such systems as explained below. Given that the operations of our insurance distribution 

services are integrated with the data analytics infrastructure, which requires an ICP licence, and they are highly 

interconnected, correlated and inseparable from each other, it is necessary for the Company to operate our 

insurance distribution business under the Contractual Arrangements and we are of the view that the Contractual 

Arrangements remain narrowly tailored for the reasons set out in detail on pages 215 to 217 in the Prospectus.

Qualification requirements
Article 10 of the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications Enterprises 

(the “FITE Regulations”) further provides that a major foreign investor which invests in a value-added 

telecommunications business in the PRC must possess prior experience in, and a proven track record of 

good performance of, operating value-added telecommunications businesses overseas (the “Qualification 

Requirements”). Foreign investors that meet these requirements must obtain approvals from the MIIT which 

retain discretion in granting such approvals.
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The MIIT issued a Guidance Memorandum on the Application Requirements for Establishing Foreign-invested 

Value-added Telecommunications Enterprises in the PRC (“Guidance Memorandum”). According to this 

Guidance Memorandum, a foreign investor applicant is required to provide, as proof of the satisfaction of the 

Qualification Requirements, a description of the value-added telecommunications services previously provided by 

itself or its direct shareholder, supported by, among other things, screenshots of licence and filings previously 

obtained and websites and apps previously operated, as well as previous telecommunication business licences 

issued by the relevant local authorities (unless where no licence is required in the relevant jurisdiction). The 

Guidance Memorandum, however, does not provide any further guidance on the proof, records or documents 

required to support the proof satisfying the Qualification Requirements.

Notwithstanding the above, we have adopted a specific plan and will continue to expend genuine efforts and 

financial resources towards meeting the Qualification Requirements. We will remain abreast of any regulatory 

developments and continuously assess whether we meet the Qualification Requirements, with a view to 

unwinding the Contractual Arrangements wholly or partially as and when practicable and permissible under the 

prevailing PRC Laws.

We are implementing a business plan with a view to building up a track record of overseas telecommunication 

business operations. We believe that such business plan represents our commitment and a meaningful 

endeavour to demonstrate compliance with the Qualification Requirements. The Company is in the process of 

expanding its overseas value-added telecommunications business through its offshore subsidiaries. In particular, 

we have taken the following concrete steps to ensure compliance with the Qualification Requirements:

• We have registered a number of global top-level domain names (including “brgroup.com”) outside of the 

PRC, and have constructed an English website that will help potential overseas users to better understand 

the Company’s services and businesses;

• We have registered four trademarks outside of the PRC and are in the process of registering a number of 

overseas trademarks for the promotion of the Company’s services and businesses overseas;

• We have established three subsidiaries in Hong Kong (namely Bairong HK Limited, Baoshu Tech Limited 

and Banyan HK Limited) for the purpose of registering and holding overseas intellectual properties, 

promoting the Company’s services and businesses, and entering into business contracts with offshore 

counterparties; and

• Through our aforementioned offshore subsidiaries, we have been exploring business opportunities for the 

Relevant Businesses in overseas markets.
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The officer from the MIIT also confirmed that the above steps are generally deemed helpful to prove that the 

Qualification Requirements have been fulfilled. Based on the above, and subject to the discretion of competent 

authority, our PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that the above steps are generally regarded as relevant and 

reasonable factors to prove that the Qualification Requirements have been fulfilled.

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
The Contractual Arrangements in place for the Reporting Period were:

• Exclusive Consulting Services Agreement. Pursuant to the exclusive consulting services agreement 

dated June 27, 2019, Onshore Holdco agreed to engage WFOE as the exclusive provider to Onshore 

Holdco and its subsidiaries of management, consultancy, technical support, business support, and 

equipment services. In consideration of the services provided by WFOE, Onshore Holdco shall pay services 

fees to WFOE, which, subject to WFOE’s adjustment at its sole discretion, shall consist of all of the profit 

before taxes of Onshore Holdco. The service fees shall be paid annually by Onshore Holdco upon receipt 

of invoice issued by WFOE. WFOE has the exclusive and proprietary rights to all intellectual properties 

developed by Onshore Holdco and enjoys all the economic benefits generated from such intellectual 

properties.

• Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement. Pursuant to the exclusive purchase option agreement dated June 

27, 2019, WFOE or its designee was granted an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase (i) from each 

of the registered shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in Onshore Holdco and/or (ii) from 

Onshore Holdco all or any part of its assets or interests in any of its assets. The purchase price payable 

by WFOE or its designee in respect of the transfer of shares or assets shall be the lowest price permitted 

under PRC Laws, and the Registered Shareholders shall return the purchase price in full to WFOE or its 

designee.

• Equity Pledge Agreement. Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement on June 27, 2019, the then registered 

shareholders pledged all of their respective equity interests in Onshore Holdco to WFOE as collateral 

security to guarantee performance of their contractual obligations under the Contractual Arrangements 

and all liabilities, monetary debts or other payment obligations arising out of or in relation with the 

Contractual Arrangements. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, unless it is successfully resolved to 

WFOE’s satisfaction within 10 days upon being notified by WFOE, WFOE may exercise its right of pledge 

immediately or any time thereafter or otherwise dispose of the pledged equity interest in accordance with 

applicable Laws and have priority in the entitlement to the sale proceeds. The Registered Shareholders 

have agreed to irrevocably waive their pre-emptive right as existing shareholders when WFOE exercises 

such right of pledge.
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• Voting Proxy Agreement. Pursuant to the shareholder voting rights proxy agreement on June 27, 2019, 

each of the then registered shareholders appointed WFOE and/or its designee as their exclusive agent and 

attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning Onshore Holdco and to exercise all of their rights 

as shareholder of Onshore Holdco. As a result of the Voting Proxy Agreement, the Company, through 

WFOE, is able to exercise management control over the activities that most significantly impact the 

economic performance of Onshore Holdco.

• Loan Agreement. Pursuant to the loan agreement between WFOE and Tianjin Saiji, WFOE agreed to 

provide a loan to Tianjin Saiji to finance its holding of equity interests in Onshore Holdco. All the equity 

interests in Onshore Holdco held and to be acquired by the borrower (the “Acquired Interests”) will be 

pledged to WFOE. As long as the Acquired Interests are pledged to WFOE, the borrower will not need to 

repay the loan. The consideration for the Acquired Interests payable by WFOE shall equal the principal of 

the loan, and the transfer of Acquired Interests under the Loan Agreement shall constitute repayment of 

the Loan Agreement by the borrower.

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for details of the material 

terms of the Contractual Arrangements.

Apart from the above, there were no other new Contractual Arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced 

during the financial year ended December 31, 2021. Save as disclosed above or in the Prospectus, there was no 

material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for 

the year ended December 31, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, none of the Contractual Arrangements had been terminated as none of 

the restrictions that led to the adoption of the contracts under the Contractual Arrangements has been removed.

Substantially all of the Group’s total revenue and net assets are derived from the Consolidated Affiliated 

Entities that are subject to the Contractual Arrangements. The total revenue and net assets derived from the 

Consolidated Affiliated Entities that are subject to the Contractual Arrangements is approximately RMB1,623.46 

million for the year ended December 31, 2021 and approximately RMB1,074.92 million as at December 31, 2021, 

respectively.
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Listing Rules implications and waivers
For the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of ‘connected person’, 

our Consolidated Affiliated Entities will be treated as our Company’s subsidiaries, but at the same time, the 

directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and its associates 

will be treated as connected persons of our Company as applicable under the Listing Rules (excluding for this 

purpose, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities themselves). Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the 

Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company under the Listing Rules.

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect of the 

transactions associated with the Contractual Arrangements are expected to be more than 5%. As such, the 

transactions will be subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ 

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

However, in respect of the Contractual Arrangements and related new intergroup agreements, we have applied 

for, and the Stock Exchange has granted us, waivers from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular 

and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the 

requirement to set a term of three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement 

set annual caps under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Class B Shares are listed on the Stock 

Exchange subject to conditions.

Confirmation from independent non-executive Directors
The Company’s independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and 

confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year have been entered into in accordance with the relevant 

provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

(ii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of 

its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group during the 

Reporting Period;

(iii) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated 

Affiliated Entities during the year other than the ones disclosed above;

(iv) the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 

Group;

(v) the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into on normal commercial terms or better; and

(vi) the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing 

them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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Reporting from the Company’s independent auditor
The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board, with respect to Contractual Arrangements 

and the transactions contemplated therein:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 

transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(ii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions have not been 

entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such 

transactions;

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that dividends or other distributions have 

been made by our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are not 

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group.

Weighted voting rights
The Company is controlled through weighted voting rights. Under this structure, the Company’s share capital 

comprises Class A Shares and Class B Shares. Each Class A Share entitles the holder to exercise 10 votes, and 

each Class B Share entitles the holder to exercise one vote, on any resolution tabled at the Company’s general 

meetings, except for resolutions with respect to the Reserved Matters, in relation to which each Share is 

entitled to one vote.

The WVR structures to enable the WVR Beneficiary to exercise voting control over the Company notwithstanding 

that the WVR Beneficiary does not hold a majority economic interest in the share capital of the Company. This 

will enable the Company to benefit from the continuing vision and leadership of the WVR Beneficiary who will 

control the Company with a view to its long-term prospects and strategy.

Investors are advised to be aware of the potential risks of investing in companies with a WVR structure, in 

particular that the interests of the WVR Beneficiary may not necessarily always be aligned with those of our 

Shareholders as a whole, and that the WVR Beneficiary will be in a position to exert significant influence over 

the affairs of our Company and the outcome of Shareholders’ resolutions, irrespective of how other Shareholders 

vote. Investors should make the decision to invest in the Company only after due and careful consideration.

As of December 31,2021, the WVR Beneficiary is Mr. Zhang. Mr. Zhang is interested in 83,655,397 Class 

A Shares, representing approximately 66.75% of the voting rights in the Company, and entitled to control 

15,644,218 Class B Shares representing approximately 1.25% of the voting rights in the Company with respect 

to shareholder resolutions relating to matters other than the Reserved Matters. The Class A Shares are held 

by Genisage Tech Inc., which is wholly owned by Genisage Holdings Limited. The entire interest in Genisage 

Holdings Limited is held through a trust which was established by Mr. Zhang (as settlor) for the benefit of 

himself and his family.
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Class A Shares may be converted into Class B Shares on a one to one ratio. As the date of this annual report, 

upon the conversion of all the issued and outstanding Class A Shares into Class B Shares, the Company 

will issue 82,806,129 Class B Shares, representing approximately 19.93% of the total number of issued and 

outstanding Class B Shares or 16.62% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The weighted voting rights attached to Class A Shares will cease when none of the WVR Beneficiaries have 

beneficial ownership of any of the Class A Shares, in accordance with Rule 8A.22 of the Listing Rules. This may 

occur:

(i) upon the occurrence of any of the circumstances set out in Rule 8A.17 of the Listing Rules, in particular 

where the WVR Beneficiary is: (1) deceased; (2) no longer a member of the Board; (3) deemed by the Stock 

Exchange to be incapacitated for the purpose of performing his duties as a director; or (4) deemed by the 

Stock Exchange to no longer meet the requirements of a director set out in the Listing Rules;

(ii) when the Class A Shareholders have transferred to another person the beneficial ownership of, or 

economic interest in, all of the Class A Shares or the voting rights attached to them, other than in the 

circumstances permitted by Rule 8A.18 of the Listing Rules;

(iii) where a vehicle holding the Class A Shares on behalf of a WVR Beneficiary no longer complies with Rule 

8A.18(2) of the Listing Rules; or

(iv) when all of the Class A Shares have been converted to Class B Shares.

Major customers
We have attracted a large and diversified group of FSP clients. As of December 31, 2021, we had served more 

than 5,700 FSP clients in China, including substantially all of China’s national banks, more than 900 regional 

banks, substantially all of China’s consumer finance companies and major insurance companies and a variety of 

other FSPs.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, less than 30% of our total revenue was generated from our five 

largest customers combined.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the 

Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in any of our five 

largest customers during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Major suppliers
Our suppliers primarily include internet or insurance marketing service providers.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, less than 30% of our total purchases was made form the five largest 

suppliers combined.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the 

Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in any of our five 

largest suppliers during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Pre-emptive rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the 

Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

Tax relief and exemption of holders of listed securities
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their 

holding of the Company’s securities.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended December 31, 

2021 are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Company’s properties are held for development and/or sale or for investment purposes.

Share capital and shares issued
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in 

Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at 

the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of public float under the 

Listing Rules.
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Donation
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group made charitable donations of RMB0.30 million.

Debenture issued
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Equity-linked agreements
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Schemes” in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements 

were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Dividend
There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Permitted indemnity
Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be 

indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, 

losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their 

duty in their offices. A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) for 

the benefit of the Directors is currently and was in force for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Company has not taken out liability insurance to provide additional coverage for the Directors.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year ended December 31, 2021 

are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 83 and in Note 31 to the consolidated 

financial statements, respectively. The Company did not have any distributable reserve as at December 31, 

2021.

Bank loans
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as of December 31, 2021 are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated 

financial statements. 
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Directors’ service contracts
Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our Company. The term of appointment 

shall be for an initial term of three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual general meeting of our 

Company after the Listing Date, whichever is sooner (subject to retirement as and when required under the 

Articles of Association).

Each of our non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The term of 

appointment shall be for an initial term of three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual general 

meeting of our Company after the Listing Date, whichever is sooner (subject to retirement as and when required 

under the Articles of Association).

Each of Professor Chen Zhiwu, Mr. Zhou Hao and Professor Guo Yike, an independent non-executive Director, 

has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The term of appointment shall be for an initial term 

of three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual general meeting of our Company after the Listing 

Date, whichever is sooner (subject to retirement as and when required under the Articles of Association).

Dr. Li Yao, an independent non-executive Director, has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. 

The term of appointment shall be for an initial term of three years from June 17, 2021 or until the third annual 

general meeting of the Company since June 17, 2021, whichever is sooner (subject to retirement by rotation and 

re-election at least once every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association).

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company 

has or is proposed to have a service contract with any member of our Group other than contracts expiring or 

determinable by the employer within one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory 

compensation).

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
Save as disclosed in the section “Connected Transactions” of this Directors’ report, none of the Directors or 

any entity connected with the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, 

arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries 

or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Emoluments of directors and the five highest paid individuals
In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, the Company has established the remuneration committee 

of the Company to formulate remuneration policies.

The remuneration is determined and recommended based on each Director’s and senior management 

personnel’s qualification, position and seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors, their 

remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation from the remuneration committee.

The Directors and the senior management personnel are eligible participants of 2019 ESOP and 2021 ESOP, 

details of which are set out in the Prospectus, and Share Award Scheme, details of which are set out in the 

Company’s announcement dated May 31, 2021 and Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals are set out 

in Note 8 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the 

Group to any of the Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss 

of office.

Contracts with controlling shareholders
Save as set out in “Connected Transactions” above and the Underwriting Agreements (as defined in the 

Prospectus), no contract of significance or contract of significance for the provision of services has been entered 

into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries 

during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Management contracts
No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 

of the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Auditor
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited by KPMG, who will retire and, being 

eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Continuing disclosure obligations pursuant to the Listing Rules
The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing 

Rules.
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Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures
Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended December 31, 2021 was the Company 

or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holdings companies a party to any arrangements to enable 

the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any 

other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any 

right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any 

such right.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
Save as disclosed in this annual report and except for the interests of the Controlling Shareholders in the Group, 

during the Reporting Period, neither the Controlling Shareholders nor any of the Directors had any interest in a 

business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, 

with the Group’s business, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Resignation of director during the year
On June 17, 2021, Mr. Li Qiang resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company due to his desire to devote 

more time to his other commitments. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company on June 

17, 2021.

By order of the Board

Zhang Shaofeng

Chairperson

Beijing, China

March 23, 2022
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Directors
The Directors who held office during the year ended December 31, 2021 and up to the date of this  

annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shaofeng (張韶峰)

Mr. Zhao Hongqiang (趙宏強)

Ms. Zhao Jing (趙靜)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Linsen (柏林森)

Mr. Ren Xuefeng (任雪峰)

Mr. Li Qiang (李強) (resigned with effect from June 17, 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Chen Zhiwu (陳志武)

Mr. Zhou Hao (周浩)

Professor Guo Yike (郭毅可)

Dr. Li Yao (李耀) (appointed with effect from June 17, 2021)

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shaofeng (張韶峰), aged 44, is our founder, executive Director, chairperson and chief executive 

officer of our Company. He is also a director of Beijing Bairong and serves as director or executive director in a 

number of our subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Mr. Zhang has over 16 years of experience in operations and management of data analytics businesses and 

internet technology companies in China. Prior to founding our Company, Mr. Zhang served as a director, partner 

and chief data officer of Percent Corporation, an enterprise involved in data intelligence technology in China, 

from August 2010 to March 2014, with responsibility for the development and operations of their big data 

products. Before joining Percent Corporation, Mr. Zhang worked at Tianya Community Network, an information 

and e-commerce platform in China from February 2010 to August 2010. From May 2009 to January 2010, he 

worked at IBM (China) Investment Limited.

Mr. Zhang received both his bachelor’s degree and master’s degree in electrical engineering from Tsinghua 

University in China, in July 2000 and June 2003 respectively.

During the past three years, Mr. Zhang has not been a director of any listed companies.
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Mr. Zhao Hongqiang (趙宏強), aged 45, is our executive Director and chief financial officer. He is also a director 

of Beijing Bairong.

Mr. Zhao currently serves as an independent director of HUYA Inc. (NYSE: HUYA), a leading China-based game 

live streaming company and Li Auto, Inc. (NASDAQ: LI), an innovator in China’s new energy vehicle market, 

since May 2018 and July 2020 respectively. Previously, Mr. Zhao served as chief financial officer of NetEase 

Lede Technology Co., Ltd Beijing Branch from October 2014 to October 2015, and vice president of finance at 

SouFun Holdings Limited (now known as Fang Holdings Limited) (NYSE: SFUN) from May 2013 to August 2014. 

Mr. Zhao previously held the position of assistant chief auditor at the Public Company Accounting Oversight 

Board, a regulatory oversight agency under the SEC. He was also employed with KPMG LLP in the United States 

from August 2001 to February 2009, with the most recent position being Manager Audit.

Mr. Zhao received a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Tsinghua University in China, in July 1999 and a 

master’s degree in accountancy from George Washington University, in Washington D.C. in the United States, in 

July 2001.

Ms. Zhao Jing (趙靜), aged 43, is our executive Director. She now serves as vice president of finance, having 

joined our Group in August 2018.

Ms. Zhao served as the finance centre director of CITIC Press Corporation (SZSE: 300788) from March 2013 to 

October 2016. Prior to that, Ms. Zhao served as audit manager at KPMG Huazhen LLP in China, from August 

2004 to February 2013.

Ms. Zhao received a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Beijing Jiaotong University in China, in July 2001 and 

a master’s degree in accounting and finance from the University of Southampton in the United Kingdom, in July 

2004.

During the past three years, Ms. Zhao has not been a director of any listed companies.
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Linsen (柏林森), aged 49, has served as our non-executive Director since June 2018. He is also a 

director of Beijing Bairong.

Mr. Bai currently serves as the general manager of the digital technology sector of Zhejiang Geely Holding Group 

Co., Ltd., since March 2021. Mr. Bai served as vice president and chief technology officer of Saxo Fintech Co., 

Ltd., from August 2020 to March 2021. He served as vice president and chief technology officer of Shanghai 

Bingsheng Technology Co., Limited, from October 2018 to March 2020. Mr. Bai served as a director at Percent 

Corporation from April 2011 to January 2016.

Mr. Bai, a Chartered Financial Analyst holder, received a bachelor’s degree in physics from University of Science 

and Technology of China in July 1991. He received a master’s degree in Science from the University of Illinois in 

the United States in August 2000.

During the past three years, Mr. Bai has not been a director of any listed companies.

Mr. Ren Xuefeng (任雪峰), aged 42, has served as our non-executive Director since September 2019. He is also 

a director of Beijing Bairong.

Mr. Ren currently serves as managing director of the investment department at China Reform Fund Management 

Co., Ltd (“China Reform Fund”) since October 2017. He was previously executive director and investment 

director of the China Reform Fund from October 2016 to September 2017 and from March 2015 to September 

2016 respectively. Mr. Ren currently serves as a director on the boards of Propitious Morningstar Limited since 

November 2018, CRF Summit Investment Limited since February 2019 and Waterdrop Investment Limited since 

March 2019. He is a licenced fund investor by the Asset Management Association of China.

Mr. Ren received a bachelor’s degree in automation and control technology and instrumentation in July 2001 

and a master’s degree in mechanical engineering in November 2011, both from Harbin Institute of Technology in 

China.

During the past three years, Mr. Ren has not been a director of any listed companies.
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Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Chen Zhiwu (陳志武), aged 59, has been our independent non-executive Director since March 2021.

Professor Chen is a director of the Asia Global Institute and Chair Professor of Finance and the Victor and 

William Fung Professor in Economics at the University of Hong Kong since July 2016. Previously, Professor 

Chen was a professor of finance at Yale University for 18 years until 2017. He was also a special-term visiting 

professor at Peking University (School of Economics) and Tsinghua University (School of Social Sciences). 

Professor Chen was a PACAP Research Fellow at the University of Wisconsin-Madison in the United States from 

1994 to 1995. Professor Chen received the Graham and Dodd Award for his research in 2013.

Professor Chen has served as an independent director and chairman of the corporate governance and 

nominating committee of Noah Holdings (NYSE: NOAH), since December 2013. Previously, Professor Chen was 

an independent non-executive director of IDG Energy Investment Limited (formerly known as Shun Cheong 

Holdings Limited) (HKEX: 650) from July 2015 to October 2018, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (HKEX: 3328) 

from August 2010 to August 2018 and PetroChina Company Limited (HKEX: 857) from May 2011 to June 2017.

Professor Chen received his Ph.D. from Yale University in the United States, in December 1990.

Mr. Zhou Hao (周浩), aged 45, has been our independent non-executive Director since March 2021.

Mr. Zhou is the chief strategic officer and president of international business of 58.com Inc., (NYSE: WUBA, 

delisted), a company that operates online marketplace serving local merchants and consumers in China since 

April 2020 and September 2019 respectively. Mr. Zhou served as chief financial officer of 58.com Inc., from May 

2011 to September 2019. In September 2010, Mr. Zhou joined CITIC Pharmaceutical Co Ltd., a pharmaceutical 

service provider that supplies medicine and related consumables to hospitals as chief financial officer. Mr. Zhou 

was the vice president of finance and the chief financial officer at Wuxi PharmaTech (Cayman) Inc. (NYSE: WX, 

delisted) from May 2009 to September 2010. Mr. Zhou joined General Electric (China) Co., Ltd. in January 2007 

as a financial manager.

Mr. Zhou has served as an independent non-executive director, chairman of the audit committee and member of 

the nomination committee of Meitu, Inc. (HKEX: 1357) since December 2016.

Mr. Zhou received his bachelor’s degree from Shanghai International Studies University in China, in July 1998.
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Professor Guo Yike (郭毅可), aged 59, has been our independent non-executive Director since March 2021.

Professor Guo has served as the Vice-President (Research and Development) of Hong Kong Baptist University 

since January 2020. Professor Guo is a Professor of Computing Science and the founding Director of the Data 

Science Institute at Imperial College London.

Professor Guo has served as an independent non-executive director of Tatwah Smartech Co., Ltd. (SZSE: 

002512) since March 2018. Professor Guo has also served as an independent non-executive director of Lizhi 

Inc. (NASDAQ: LIZI) since September 2020 and China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (HKEX: 

1372) since August 2021 and as an independent director of Zhongguancun Development Group Co., Ltd. since 

December 2020. He was elected as a Fellow of the Royal Academy of Engineering (FREng) and a Member of 

Academia Europaea (MAE) in 2018.

Professor Guo received his bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from Tsinghua University in China, in July 

1985 and his PhD in Engineering from Imperial College London in the United Kingdom, in August 1994.

Dr. Li Yao (李耀), aged 53, has been our independent non-executive Director since June 2021.

Dr. Li has been the Regional Chief Investment Officer for East Asia and Pacific of International Finance 

Corporation of World Bank Group since 2016. He was also the Principal Investment Officer of the same 

company from 1999 to 2011. From 2015 to 2016, Dr. Li was the co-Chief Executive Officer of China Ping An 

Capital under China Ping An Insurance Group. From 2011 to 2015, he was the Chief Executive Officer of China-

ASEAN Investment Cooperation Fund and the Chairman of the Investment Committee of China-ASEAN Fund 

Management Company. From 1994 to 1998, he was the co-head of Investment Banking Business for Bank of 

China (BOC) Group.

Dr. Li received a bachelor’s degree in Finance from China Nanjing University in July 1991, a master’s degree 

in Finance from Nankai University of China in December 1993, and a Ph.D. degree in Economics from China 

Renmin University in July 2000.

Dr. Li is currently an independent director of 21Vianet Group, Inc. (NASDAQ: VNET). From August 2020 to June 

2021, Dr. Li was a non-executive director of Aceso Life Science Group Limited (formerly known as Hao Tian 

Development Group Limited) (a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 474). 

From June 2019 to January 2020, Dr. Li was an independent non-executive director of China LNG Group Limited 

(HKEX: 931).
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Senior management
Our senior management team comprises of Mr. Zhang Shaofeng, Mr. Zhao Hongqiang and Ms. Zhao Jing, who 

are each an executive Director of our Company. See “– Executive directors” for their biographies.

Joint company secretaries
Mr. Chen Chunyang (陳春陽), is our joint company secretary. Mr. Chen joined our Group in May 2017, and 

has served in various capacities including as chief investment officer. He joined Shanghai Fangchuang Financial 

Information Service Co., Ltd., a venture capitalist investor, from April 2014 to May 2017. Mr. Chen received his 

bachelor’s degree in electronic information engineering from the Tianjin University of Technology in China in 

June 2014.

Ms. Leung Shui Bing (梁瑞冰), is our joint company secretary. Ms. Leung currently serves as a manager of the 

listing services department at TMF Hong Kong Limited (a global corporate services provider).

Ms. Leung obtained her bachelor’s degree in business and management studies (accounting and finance) from 

the University of Bradford in the United Kingdom in July 2008, and a master’s degree in corporate governance 

from Hong Kong Metropolitan University (formerly known as The Open University of Hong Kong) in August 

2017. Ms. Leung is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an associate member of 

both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries 

and Administrators) in the United Kingdom.

Changes to directors’ information
Dr. Li Yao (李耀) was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from June 17, 2021. 

Dr. Li resigned as non-executive director of Aceso Life Science Group Limited (formerly known as Hao Tian 

Development Group Limited) (a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 474) with 

effect from June 30, 2021.

Mr. Li Qiang (李強) resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from June 17, 2021.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report, 

there has been no change to the information of the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 

13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules
Save and except for the interests of our Controlling Shareholders in our Company and its subsidiaries, during the 

year ended December 31, 2021, neither our Controlling Shareholders nor any of our Directors had any interest in 

a business, apart from the business of our Group, which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, 

with our business, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.



44 Bairong Inc.

Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for the Company for the year ended December 

31, 2021.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
After the Listing, save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this corporate governance report, we have complied 

with all the code provisions set forth in the Corporate Governance Code.

Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, recommends, but does not require, that the roles 

of chairperson and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same person. The 

Company deviates from this provision because Mr. Zhang performs both the roles of the chairperson of the 

Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Zhang is the founder of the Group and has extensive 

experience in the business operations and management of our Group. Our Board believes that vesting the roles 

of both chairperson and chief executive officer to Mr. Zhang has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership 

within our Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning. This structure will enable 

our Company to make and implement decisions promptly and effectively.

Our Board considers that the balance of power and authority will not be impaired due to this arrangement. In 

addition, all major decisions are made in consultation with members of the Board, including the relevant Board 

committees, and three independent non-executive Directors. Our Board will reassess the division of the roles 

of chairperson and the chief executive officer from time-to-time, and may recommend dividing the two roles 

between different people in the future, taking into account the circumstances of our Group as a whole.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the Management Trading of Securities Policy (the “Code”), with terms no less 

exacting that the Model Code, as its own securities dealing code to regulate all dealings by Directors and 

relevant employees of securities in the Company and other matters covered by the Code.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the relevant employees and they have confirmed that 

they have complied with the Code since the Listing Date up to December 31, 2021.



45ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board composition
The Board currently comprises nine members consisting of three executive Directors, two non-executive 

Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the composition of the Board comprises 

the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shaofeng (Chairperson and chief executive officer, member of nomination committee)
Mr. Zhao Hongqiang

Ms. Zhao Jing

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Linsen (member of audit committee and remuneration committee)
Mr. Ren Xuefeng

Mr. Li Qiang (resigned with effect from June 17, 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Chen Zhiwu (chairperson of remuneration committee and corporate governance committee, member 
 of audit committee)
Mr. Zhou Hao (chairperson of audit committee and nomination committee, member of remuneration committee 
 and corporate governance committee)
Professor Guo Yike (member of nomination committee and corporate governance committee)
Dr. Li Yao (appointed with effect from June 17, 2021)

The biographical information of the Directors is disclosed under “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 

38 to 42 of this annual report.

There are no material/relevant relationships (including financial, business, family) between members of the 

Board.
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Board meetings and committee meetings
Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the board should meet regularly and 

board meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.

During the Reporting Period, the Board held 5 Board meetings, 3 Audit Committee meetings, 1 Corporate 

Governance Committee meeting, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting, 1 Nomination Committee meeting and an 

annual general meeting.

A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings and committee meetings is set out in 

the following table below:

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

Director

Annual 

general 

meeting

Board 

meeting

Audit 

committee

Remuneration 

committee

Nomination 

committee

Corporate 

governance 

committee

Zhang Shaofeng 1/1 5/5 – – 1/1 –

Zhao Hongqiang 1/1 5/5 – – – –

Zhao Jing 1/1 5/5 – – – –

Bai Linsen 1/1 5/5 3/3 1/1 – –

Ren Xuefeng 1/1 5/5 – – – –

Li Qiang(1) 1/1 2/2 – – – –

Chen Zhiwu 1/1 5/5 3/3 1/1 – 1/1

Zhou Hao 1/1 5/5 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1

Guo Yike 1/1 5/5 – – 1/1 1/1

Li Yao(2) – 3/3 – – – –

Notes: 

(1) Mr. Li Qiang resigned as a non-executive Director on June 17, 2021. During the period from January 1, 2021 up to his resignation date, 

two regular Board meetings were held.

(2) Dr. Li Yao was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on June 17, 2021. During the period from his appointment date up to 

December 31, 2021, three regular Board meeting were held.

Following the Listing, in accordance with code provision C.2.7 of the Corporate Governance Code, apart from 

the regular Board meeting above, the chairperson of the Board has held meetings with the independent non-

executive directors without the presence of other directors during the reporting period to discuss the Company’s 

strategy, director’s contributions, and their independent view.
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Independent non-executive directors
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive 

Directors to be independent.

Following the Listing, the Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the 

appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board with 

one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management 

expertise.

Appointment and re-election of Directors
Code provision B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that every Directors, including those 

appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

At each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation. 

However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one 

third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been 

in office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who became or were last 

re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be 

determined by lot.

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our Company. The term of office of our 

executive Directors is three years or until the third annual general meeting of our Company since the Listing 

Date (whichever is sooner).

Each of our non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The term of 

office of our non-executive Directors is three years or until the third annual general meeting of our Company 

since the Listing Date (whichever is sooner).

Each of Profess Chen Zhiwu, Mr. Zhou Hao and Professor Guo Yike, an independent non-executive Director, 

has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The term of office of our independent non-executive 

Directors is three years or until the third annual general meeting of our Company since the Listing Date 

(whichever is sooner).

Dr. Li Yao, an independent non-executive Director, has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. 

The term of appointment shall be for an initial term of three years from June 17, 2021 or until the third annual 

general meeting of the Company since June 17, 2021, whichever is sooner (subject to retirement by rotation and 

re-election at least once every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association).
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Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board and 
management
The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company and is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 

businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of 

the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes decisions objectively in the interests 

of the Company. All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum 

of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective 

functioning. The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s 

business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation, business development, finance, marketing, and 

operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal 

control and risk management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), 

financial information, appointment of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. 

Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation 

and management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has not purchased insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal 

actions taken against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Board committees
The Board has established four committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the 

nomination committee and the corporate governance committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the 

Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is established with defined written terms of reference. The terms 

of reference of the Board committees are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit committee
The Company has established an audit committee in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the 

Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and the 

risk management and internal control systems of the Group, review and approve connected transactions and 

provide advice and comments to the Board.

The audit committee comprises one non-executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors, 

being Mr. Zhou Hao, Mr. Bai Linsen and Professor Chen Zhiwu, with Mr. Zhou Hao (being our independent non-

executive Director with the appropriate professional qualifications) as the chairperson of the audit committee.
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The audit committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 

December 31, 2021 and has met with the independent auditor, KPMG. The audit committee has also discussed 

matters with respect to the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company and internal control and 

financial reporting matters with senior management members of the Company.

Remuneration committee
The Company established a remuneration committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the 

Corporate Governance Code. The remuneration committee should consult the chairman and/or chief executive 

about their remuneration proposals for other executive directors. The remuneration committee should have 

access to independent professional advice if necessary.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to review and make recommendations to the Board on 

the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to our Directors and other senior 

management.

The remuneration committee comprises one non-executive Director and two independent non-executive 

Directors, being Professor Chen Zhiwu, Mr. Zhou Hao and Mr. Bai Linsen, with Professor Chen Zhiwu as the 

chairperson of the remuneration committee.

The remuneration committee has adopted the second model described in code provision E.1.2(c) of the Corporate 

Governance Code (i.e. make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive 

Directors and senior management members).

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration committee has performed the following major tasks:

• Reviewed the remuneration policy and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management 

of the Company.

• Reviewed and recommended to the Board the remuneration package of Dr. Li Yao upon his appointment as 

director of the Company.

• Reviewed and recommended to the Board the grant of share awards to certain senior management of the 

Company.
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Details of the remuneration paid or payable to each Director of the Company (member of the senior 

management), on an individual and named basis for the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in Note 8 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

All the members of senior management were also a Director or chief executive of the Company, whose 

remunerations are already disclosed on an individual basis in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination committee
The Company has established a nomination committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to make recommendations to our Board on the appointment 

or re-appointment of Directors and management of Board succession.

The nomination committee comprises one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors, 

being Mr. Zhang Shaofeng, Professor Guo Yike and Mr. Zhou Hao, with Mr. Zhou Hao as the chairperson of the 

nomination committee.

During the Reporting Period, the nomination committee has performed the following major tasks:

• Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, 

skills and experience appropriate to the requirements for the business of the Group.

• Assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.

• Recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company.

• Recommended to the Board on the appointment of Dr. Li Yao as an independent non-executive director of 

the Company.

Corporate governance committee
The Company has established a corporate governance committee in compliance with Rule 8A.30 of the Listing 

Rules and the Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the corporate governance committee are to ensure that the Company is operated and 

managed for the benefit of all Shareholders and to ensure the Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules and 

safeguards relating to the WVR structure of the Company.

The corporate governance committee comprises of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor 

Chen Zhiwu, Professor Guo Yike and Mr. Zhou Hao. Professor Chen Zhiwu is the chairperson of the corporate 

governance committee.
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During the Reporting Period, the corporate governance committee has performed the following major tasks:

• Reviewed the policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance and on compliance with legal 

and regulatory requirements. The policies reviewed include Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 

and Relevant Employees, board diversity policy, shareholders’ communication policy, procedures for 

nomination of director by shareholders, disclosure of information policy, connected transactions policy and 

whistle-blowing policy, dividend policy and other corporate governance policies.

• Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and the deviation(s) from code 

provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code and the Company’s disclosure for compliance with 

Chapter 8A of the Listing Rules.

• Reviewed the remuneration, the terms of engagement and the re-appointment of the Compliance Advisor.

• Reviewed and monitored the management of conflicts of interests between the Group/the Shareholders on 

one hand and the WVR Beneficiary on the other.

• Reviewed and monitored all risks related to the weighted voting rights structure, including connected 

transactions between the Group/the Shareholders on one hand and the WVR Beneficiary on the other.

• Reviewed the arrangements for the training and continuous professional development of Directors and 

senior management (in particular, Chapter 8A of the Listing Rules and knowledge in relation to risks relating 

to the weighted voting rights structure).

• Reviewed and confirmed that the WVR Beneficiary has been member of the Board throughout the 

Reporting Period and no matters under Rule 8A.17 of the Listing Rules have occurred during the Reporting 

Period, and he has complied with Rules 8A.14, 8A.15, 8A.18 and 8A.24 of the Listing Rules throughout the 

Reporting Period.

• Sought to ensure effective and on-going communication between the Company and its Shareholders, 

particularly with regards to the requirements of Rule 8A.35 of the Listing Rules.

• Reported on the work of the Corporate Governance Committee covering all areas of its terms of reference.
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The corporate governance committee has confirmed to the Board it is of the view that the Company has adopted 

sufficient corporate governance measures to manage the potential conflict of interest between the Group 

and the beneficiaries of weighted voting rights in order to ensure that the operations and management of the 

Company are in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole indiscriminately, on a half yearly and annual basis 

covering all areas of its terms of reference. The corporate governance committee has also developed, reviewed 

and monitored the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors.

The corporate governance committee has confirmed that (i) the WVR beneficiaries have been members of the 

Board throughout the Reporting Period; (ii) no matter under Rule 8A.17 has occurred during the Reporting Period; 

and (iii) the WVR Beneficiaries have complied with Rules 8A.14, 8A.15, 8A.18 and 8A.24 of the Listing Rules 

during the Reporting Period. The corporate governance committee has also reviewed the remuneration and 

terms of engagement of the Compliance Advisor, and to confirm to the Board that it is not aware of any factors 

that would require it to consider either the removal of the current Compliance Advisor or the appointment of a 

new compliance advisor.

Board diversity policy
Our Company adopted a board diversity policy on March 16, 2021 which sets out the approach to achieve 

diversity of the Board. Our Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and 

sees increasing diversity at the Board level, including gender diversity, as an essential element in maintaining 

the Company’s competitive advantage and enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees from 

the widest possible pool of available talent. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, in reviewing and assessing 

suitable candidates to serve as a director of the Company, the nomination committee will consider a number of 

factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional qualifications, 

skills, knowledge, and industry experience. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the nomination committee will 

discuss periodically and when necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity, including 

gender diversity, on the Board and recommend them to the Board for formal adoption.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company had a total of nine Directors. There is a diverse mix of 

educational background and professional experience. The nomination committee has reviewed the diversity 

policy and considers that, appropriate balance has been stricken among the Board members in terms of skills, 

experience and perspectives.
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Dividend policy
In accordance with code provision F.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Company adopted a dividend 

policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on March 16, 2021, which outlines the principles and guidelines that the Company 

intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.

The Company does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio. The Company currently intends to retain most, if not 

all, of the available funds and any future earnings to operate and expand its business.

Director nomination policy
In accordance with paragraph E(d)(iii) of the Corporate Governance Code, the Company adopted a nomination 

policy for nomination of directors (the “Director Nomination Policy”) on March 16, 2021. Such policy ensures 

that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements 

of the Company’s business.

According to the Director Nomination Policy:

(i) the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board;

(ii) the nomination committee shall identify, consider and recommend suitable individuals to the Board to 

consider and to make recommendations to the Shareholders for election of Directors at a general meeting 

either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board;

(iii) in assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate, the 

nomination committee would reference, among others, the candidates’ reputation for integrity, professional 

qualifications and skills, accomplishment and experience in the private education sector, commitment 

in respect of available time and relevant interest, independence of proposed independent non-executive 

Directors; and diversity in all aspects; and

(iv) the nomination committee shall make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment 

of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Continuous professional development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to effectively perform their 

responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and 

skills.

During the Reporting Period, the key methods of attaining continuous professional development by each of the 

Directors are recognised as follows:

Director

Attended 

training session

Reading 

materials

Zhang Shaofeng  

Zhao Hongqiang  

Zhao Jing  

Bai Linsen  

Ren Xuefeng  

Li Qiang (resigned with effect from June 17, 2021)  

Chen Zhiwu  

Zhou Hao  

Guo Yike  

Li Yao (appointed with effect from June 17, 2021)  

Directors’ responsibility in respect of the financial statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the 

year ended December 31, 2021. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor of the Company, KPMG, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 

statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 77 to 78 of this annual report.



55ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Corporate governance function
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate 

Governance Code.

The Board has reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, training 

and continuous professional development of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and 

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the Company’s compliance with the 

Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

Risk management and internal control
The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems and 

reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 

to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 

misstatement or loss.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take 

in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains 

appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees risk management 

functions directly and also through the audit committee and the senior management.

The senior management is responsible for the overall implementation of risk management and internal control 

plans and policies determined by the Board and managing the risks in connection with all of the Company’s 

business operations. The senior management identifies, assess and take measures against any significant risks 

that the Company is facing, and reviews the risk assessment report on a regular basis and reports to the Board 

on a regular basis.

The Board did not identify any significant unresolved areas of concern prior to the Listing.

The audit committee assists the Board in leading the management and monitoring and overseeing the risk 

management and internal control systems through the internal audit department, and reporting and making 

recommendations to the Board where appropriate.

After the Listing, the management will confirm to the Board and the audit committee on the effectiveness of the 

risk management and internal control systems for each financial year.

The Board, as supported by the audit committee as well as the management report and the internal audit 

findings by the internal audit department, will review the effectiveness of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ 

risk management and internal control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for 

each financial year, and will consider whether such systems are effective and adequate.



56 Bairong Inc.

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The annual review will also cover the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, 

experiences and relevant resources. The Board, supported by the Audit Committee and management, reviewed 

the management reports and the internal audit reports. For the Reporting Period, the Board considered the risk 

management and internal control systems of the Company effective and adequate.

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside information. In order to ensure the market 

and stakeholders are timely and fully informed about the material developments in the Company’s business, 

the Board has adopted the inside information disclosure policy regarding the procedures of proper information 

disclosure. As such, the inside information will not be passed on to any external party.

Joint company secretaries
Mr. Chen Chunyang and Ms. Leung Shui Bing are the Company’s joint company secretaries. Ms. Leung Shui 

Bing is an external secretarial service provider.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company secretaries on corporate governance 

and board practices and matters. Mr. Chen Chunyang, a joint company secretary of the Company, has been 

designated as the primary contact person at the Company who would work and communicate with Ms. 

Leung Shui Bing, also a joint company secretary on the Company’s corporate governance and secretarial and 

administrative matters.

During the Reporting Period, both Mr. Chen Chunyang and Ms. Leung Shui Bing had undertaken not less than 15 

hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Auditor’s scope of work
The Company auditor’s statement in respect of their reporting responsibilities is set out in the “Independent 

Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

Auditor’s remuneration
A breakdown of the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the Auditor to the 

Company for the year ended December 31, 2021 is set out below:

Service category Fees paid (RMB’000)

Audit services 3,660

Non-audit services (tax consulting) 410
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Shareholders’ rights
To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate 

issue at general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general 

meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of 

the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by Shareholders
Pursuant to Article 13.3 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the 

written requisition of any one or more members holding together, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, 

shares representing not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company on a one vote per share basis, 

which carry the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition shall be deposited at 

the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal 

office, the registered office of the Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be 

added to the meeting agenda and signed by the requisitionist(s). If the Directors do not within 21 days from the 

date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the 

requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of 

them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings 

may be convened by the Directors provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration 

of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 

requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings
The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the Shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings 

of the Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders 

who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written 

requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedure for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a director
Shareholders may propose a person for election as a director, the procedures for which are available on the 

Company’s website.
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Putting forward enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The 

Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: 1-3/F, Tower A, No.10 Furong Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, China

Telephone: (+86) 010-64718828

Email: ir@brgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, 

notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact 

details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The information of the Shareholder(s) may be disclosed 

as required by law.

Communication with shareholders and investor relations
The Company considers effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations 

and investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavors to 

maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other 

general meetings. At annual general meetings, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet 

Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Board adopted a shareholders’ communication policy on March 16, 2021, with reference to Corporate 

Governance Code.

The Company discloses information and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in 

accordance with the Listing Rules, the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to 

ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling Shareholders, 

investors as well as the public to make rational and informed decisions. For the Reporting Period, the Board 

considered the shareholders’ communication policy of the Company effective and adequate.

Significant changes to constitutional documents
During the year ended December 31, 2021, there was no significant change in the memorandum and articles of 

association of the Company. As set out in the Prospectus, the Company adopted the Memorandum and Articles 

of Association as defined therein with effect from the Listing Date.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares and 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations 
As of December 31, 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company 

in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the 

meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which will have to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 

to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she is taken or 

deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the 

SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to 

be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange are set out below:

Name Nature of interest Number of Shares

Approximate

% of interest 

in each class 

of share(1)

Mr. Zhang(2) Founder of a trust 83,655,397 Class A Shares 100.00%

Interest in a controlled corporation 15,000,000 Class B Shares 3.60%

Founder of a trust 644,218 Class B Shares 0.15%

Beneficial owner 1,746,000 Class B Shares 0.42%

Mr. Zhao Hongqiang(3) Beneficial owner 4,100,000 Class B Shares 0.98%

Ms. Zhao Jing(4) Beneficial owner 1,670,880 Class B Shares 0.40%

Mr. Bai Linsen Interest in a controlled corporation 5,907,745 Class B Shares 1.42%

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 83,655,397 Class A Shares and 416,696,014 Class B Shares in issue as of December 31, 
2021.

(2) This includes 83,655,397 Class A Shares held by Genisage Tech Inc., 15,000,000 Class B Shares held by GeniAI Tech Ltd, 644,218 Class 
B Shares hold by Genisage Tech Inc. and 1,746,000 underlying shares. Genisage Tech Inc. is wholly owned by Genisage Holdings Limited. 
The entire interest in Genisage Holdings Limited is held through a trust which was established by Mr. Zhang (as settlor) for the benefit 
of himself and his family. GeniAI Tech Ltd. is wholly owned by RongXing Trust, which is managed by Mr. Zhang and two employees. Mr. 
Zhang is deemed to be interested in the Class B Shares held by GeniAI Tech Ltd.. Such underlying shares are the relevant shares that 
may be allotted and issued Class B Shares to him upon fully exercise of all the options granted to him under the 2021 ESOP and the grant 
will be subject to the approval by the independent Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to be convened in due course pursuant to Rule 
17.04(1) of the Listing Rules.

(3) This includes 800,000 Class B Shares and 3,300,000 underlying shares. Such underlying shares including (i) 2,000,000 options which are 
the relevant shares that may be allotted and issued Class B Shares to him upon fully exercise of all the options granted to him under the 
2021 ESOP, and (ii) 1,300,000 award shares which are the relevant shares that may be allotted and issued Class B Shares to him upon 
fully exercise of all the right granted to him under the Share Award Scheme.

(4) This includes 341,880 Class B Shares and 1,329,000 underlying shares. Such underlying shares including (i) 678,000 options which are 
the relevant shares that may be allotted and issued Class B Shares to her upon fully exercise of all the options granted to her under the 
2021 ESOP, and (ii) 651,000 award shares which are the relevant shares that may be allotted and issued Class B Shares to her upon fully 
exercise of all the right granted to her under the Share Award Scheme.
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in shares and 
underlying shares
As of December 31, 2021, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives whose interests 

have been disclosed in this annual report) had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares 

which would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as 

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares

Approximate 

% of interest 

in each class 

of share(1)

Class A Shares

Genisage Tech Inc.(2) Beneficial owner 83,655,397 (L) 100.00%

Genisage Holdings Limited(2) Interest in controlled corporations 83,655,397 (L) 100.00%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd.(2) Trustee 83,655,397 (L) 100.00%

Mr. Zhang(2) Founder of a trust 83,655,397 (L) 100.00%

Class B Shares

HH BR-I Holdings Limited(3) Beneficial owner 40,493,370 (L) 9.72%

Tianjin GLTC Enterprise 

 Management Consultation, L.P.(3)

Interest in controlled corporations 40,493,370 (L) 9.72%

Zhuhai Gaoling Tiancheng 

 Investment Management 

 Co., Ltd.

Interest in controlled corporations 40,493,370 (L) 9.72%

CRF Summit Investment Limited(4) Interest in controlled corporations 28,170,780 (L) 6.76%

Tianjin Shenghuatianxi Enterprise 

 Management Partnership L.P.(4)

Interest in controlled corporations 28,170,780 (L) 6.76%

Xinjiang Guoxin Equity Investment 

 Management Co., Ltd.(4)

Interest in controlled corporations 44,571,580 (L) 10.70%
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Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares

Approximate 

% of interest 

in each class 

of share(1)

China Reform Fund Management 

 (Group) Co., Ltd.(4)

Interest in controlled corporations 44,571,580 (L) 10.70%

China Reform Fund Management 

 Co., Ltd.(4)

Interest in controlled corporations 44,571,580 (L) 10.70%

China Reform Holdings Co., Ltd.(4) Interest in controlled corporations 44,571,580 (L) 10.70%

Max Elegant Limited(5) Beneficial owner 30,937,545 (L) 7.42%

Tianjin Sequoia Huanrong 

 Enterprise Management 

 Consulting Center L.P.(5)

Interest in controlled corporations 30,937,545 (L) 7.42%

Sequoia XinYuan Equity

 Investment Partnership (L.P.)(5)

Interest in controlled corporations 30,937,545 (L) 7.42%

Hangzhou Sequoia Heyuan Equity 

 Investment Partnership (L.P.)(5)

Interest in controlled corporations 30,937,545 (L) 7.42%

Shanghai Zheyou Investment 

 Partnership (L.P.)(5)

Interest in controlled corporations 30,937,545 (L) 7.42%

Cederberg Capital (Cayman)(6) Interest in controlled corporations 29,276,000 (L) 7.03%

Cederberg Capital (Cayman) GP(6) Interest in controlled corporations 29,276,000 (L) 7.03%

Dawid Krige(6) Interest in controlled corporations 29,276,000 (L) 7.03%

Qianhai Golden Bridge IV LP(7) Beneficial owner 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%

Qianhai Golden Bridge 

 Management Ltd(7)

Interest in controlled corporations 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%

Qianhai Golden Bridge Co., Ltd.(7) Interest in controlled corporations 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%

Mr. Wang Haipeng(7) Interest in controlled corporations 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%
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Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares

Approximate 

% of interest 

in each class 

of share(1)

深圳中金前海樂四號

 基金中心(有限合夥)(7)

Interest in controlled corporations 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%

CICC Qianhai Development 

 (Shenzhen) Fund Management 

 Co., Ltd(7)

Interest in controlled corporations 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%

CICC Capital Operation Co., Ltd.(7) Interest in controlled corporations 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%

China International Capital 

 Corporation Limited(7)

Interest in controlled corporations 25,704,335 (L) 6.17%

Wu Capital Limited(8) Beneficial owner 24,314,910 (L) 5.84%

Zodiac Elements Limited(8) Interest in controlled corporations 24,314,910 (L) 5.84%

Aureate Kirin Limited(8) Interest in controlled corporations 24,314,910 (L) 5.84%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd.(8) Trustee 24,314,910 (L) 5.84%

Ms. Cai Xinyi(8) Founder of a trust 24,314,910 (L) 5.84%

IDG-Accel China Growth Fund 

 GP III Associates Ltd.(9)

Interest in controlled corporations 21,042,090 (L) 5.05%

Mr. Zhou Quan(9) Interest in controlled corporations 21,042,090 (L) 5.05%

Mr. Ho Chi Sing(9) Interest in controlled corporations 21,042,090 (L) 5.05%
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Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 83,655,397 Class A Shares and 416,696,014 Class B Shares in issue as of December 31, 

2021. The letter “L” and “S” stand for long position and short position, respectively.

(2) Genisage Tech Inc. is wholly-owned by Genisage Holdings Limited. The entire interest in Genisage Holdings Limited is held through TMF 

(Cayman) Ltd., which is the trustee of a trust which was established by Mr. Zhang (as settlor) for the benefit of himself and his family. 

Therefore Mr. Zhang is deemed to hold interests in Genisage Tech Inc..

(3) HH BR-I Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Tianjin GLTC Enterprise Management Consultation, L.P. The general partner of Tianjin GLTC 

Enterprise Management Consultation, L.P. is Zhuhai Gaoling Tiancheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.

(4) CRF Summit Investment Limited is wholly owned by Tianjin Shenghua Tianxi Enterprise Management Partnership L.P. and Waterdrop 

Investment Limited is wholly owned by Tianjin Zhonghe tianxi Enterprise Management Partnership L.P., with Xinjiang Guoxin Equity 

Investment Management Co., Ltd. being their sole management company. Xinjiang Guoxin Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. is 

wholly owned China Reform Fund Management Co., Ltd., with China Reform Fund Management (Group) Co., Ltd. being its largest single 

shareholder. China Reform Fund Management (Group) Co., Ltd. is wholly-owned by China Reform Holdings Co., Ltd.

(5) Max Elegant Limited is controlled by Tianjin Sequoia Huanrong Enterprise Management Consulting Center L.P., whose limited partner 

is Sequoia XinYuan Equity Investment Partnership (L.P.), which is indirectly owned by Hangzhou Sequoia Heyuan Equity Investment 

Partnership (L.P.) as to 33.61% and indirectly wholly-owned by Shanghai Zheyou Investment Partnership (L.P.) as a general partner. 

Hangzhou Sequoia Heyuan Equity Investment Partnership (L.P.) is indirectly wholly-owned by Shanghai Zheyou Investment Partnership 

(L.P.) as a general partner.

(6) Cederberg Capital (Cayman), which is owned by Dawid Krige as to 64%, through its direct controlled corporation to hold 29,276,000 Class 

B Shares. Cederberg Capital (Cayman) GP, which is indirectly owned by Dawid Krige as to 64%, has indirect interests in Cederberg Capital 

(Cayman).

(7) Qianhai Golden Bridge IV LP is a limited partnership established in the Cayman Islands controlled by Qianhai Golden Bridge Management 

Ltd, which is indirectly wholly-owned by Qianhai Golden Bridge Co., Ltd. Qianhai Golden Bridge Co., Ltd is indirectly wholly-owned by 

CICC Qianhai Development (Shenzhen) Fund Management Co., Ltd. CICC Qianhai Development (Shenzhen) Fund Management Co., 

Ltd. is indirectly owned by CICC Capital Operation Co., Ltd. as to 55%, which is indirectly wholly-owned by China International Capital 

Corporation Limited. Mr. Wang Haipeng is the limited partner of Qianhai Golden Bridge IV LP contributing more than one third of the 

capital to Qianhai Golden Bridge IV LP. Mr. Wang Haipeng holds the interest on behalf of 深圳中金前海伯樂四號基金中心(有限合夥).

(8) Wu Capital Limited is wholly owned by Zodiac Elements Limited, which is indirectly wholly-owned by Aureate Kirin Limited. Aureate Kirin 

Limited is indirectly wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd., which is the trustee of a family trust set up by Ms. Cai Xinyi.

(9) IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP III Associates Limited indirectly controls IDG-Accel China Growth Fund III L.P. and is the general partner 

of IDG-Accel China III Investors L.P., each a shareholder of the Company. IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP III Ltd. is managed and 

ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhou Quan and Mr. Ho Chi Sing.
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Share Schemes
2019 ESOP
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2019 ESOP. The 2019 ESOP does not involve the grant 

of any share options after Listing and is not subject to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose. The purpose of the 2019 ESOP is to promote the success and enhance the value of our Company 

by linking the personal interests of the participants to those of Shareholders and by providing such individuals 

with an incentive for outstanding performance to generate superior returns to Shareholders. The 2019 ESOP is 

further intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract, and retain the services of 

the participants upon whose judgement, interest, and special effort the successful conduct of the Company’s 

operation is largely dependent.

Eligible participant. Any person, including an officer, a director or a consultant of any member of a Group Entity 

(as defined therein), who is in the employment of or other contractual relationship with any member of the 

Group Entity. The Committee may, from time to time, select from among all eligible individuals, those to whom 

Awards shall be granted and shall determine the nature and amount of each Award (the “Participant”). No 

individual shall have any right to be granted an award pursuant to the 2019 ESOP.

Maximum number of Class B Shares. The maximum aggregate number of Class B Shares which may be issued 

pursuant to all awards under the 2019 ESOP shall be 49,817,780 Class B Shares. Class B Shares subject to any 

awards that terminate, expire or lapse for any reason shall again be available for the grant of an award pursuant 

to the 2019 ESOP. Class B Shares subject to any awards that are forfeited by the participant or repurchased by 

the Company may again be optioned, granted or awarded under the 2019 ESOP.

Duration. The 2019 ESOP shall become effective on the date of its adoption and shall expire on, and no award 

may be granted pursuant to the 2019 ESOP after the tenth anniversary of the effective date. Any awards that 

are outstanding on the tenth anniversary of the effective date shall remain in force according to the terms of the 

2019 ESOP and the applicable memorialised in an agreement.

Outstanding options granted. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had conditionally granted options to 

205 Participants under the 2019 ESOP. All the options under the 2019 ESOP were granted between May 20, 

2016 and March 9, 2021 (both days inclusive) and our Company will not grant further options under the 2019 

ESOP after the Listing.

Further details of the 2019 ESOP are set out in the Prospectus.
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2021 ESOP
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2021 ESOP conditionally adopted by our Shareholders’ 

resolutions dated March 16, 2021 with effect from Listing. The terms of the 2021 ESOP will be subject to 

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose. The purpose of the 2021 ESOP is to provide Eligible Persons (defined below) with the opportunity to 

acquire proprietary interests in our Company and to encourage the Eligible Person to work towards enhancing 

the value of our Company and our Shares for the benefit of our Company and Shareholders as a whole. The 

2021 ESOP will provide our Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing, rewarding, remunerating, 

compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible Persons.

Eligible Persons. Any individual, being an employee or director of any member of the Group or any Affiliate 

(including nominees, and/or trustees of any employee benefit trust established for them), officer, consultant, 

advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or 

service provider of any member of our Group or any of our Group’s affiliates who the Board or its delegate(s) 

considers, in their sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to our Group is entitled to be offered 

and granted options (“Eligible Person(s)”).

Maximum number of Class B Shares. The total number of Class B Shares which may be issued upon exercise 

of all options to be granted under the 2021 ESOP and any other share option scheme of our Company is 

41,098,971, being no more than 10% of the Shares in issue on the date the Class B Shares commence trading 

on the Stock Exchange (the “Option Scheme Mandate Limit”). The overall limit on the number of Class B 

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 

2021 ESOP and any other share option schemes of our Company at any time (and to which the provisions of 

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time 

(the “Option Scheme Limit”).

Maximum entitlement of a grantee. Unless approved by our Shareholders, the total number of Class B Shares 

issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted under the 2021 ESOP and any 

other share option scheme(s) of our Company to each Eligible Person (including both exercised and outstanding 

options) in any 12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue (the “Individual 

Limit”). Any further grant of options to an Eligible Person which would result in the aggregate number of Class 

B Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person 

(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12 month period up to and including the date of 

such further grant exceeding the Individual Limit shall be subject to separate approval of our Shareholders in 

general meeting (with such Eligible Persons and his associates abstaining from voting).
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Subscription price. The price per Class B Share at which a grantee may subscribe for Class B Shares on the 

exercise of an option (the “Subscription Price”) shall be such price determined by the Board in its absolute 

discretion and shall be no less than the higher of:

(i) the closing price of a Class B Share as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange 

on the date of grant;

(ii) the average closing price of the Class B Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock 

Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Class B Share on the date of grant.

Grant offer letter and notification of grant of options. An offer shall be made to Eligible Persons by a letter in 

duplicate which specifies the terms on which the option is to be granted. Such terms may include any minimum 

period(s) for which an option must be held and/or any minimum performance target(s) that must be achieved, 

before the option can be exercised in whole or in part, and may include at the discretion of the Board or its 

delegate(s) such other terms either on a case basis or generally.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and the option to which the offer relates shall be deemed to 

have been granted and to have taken effect when the duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the 

offer duly signed by the grantee with the number of Class B Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted 

clearly stated therein, together with a remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration 

for the grant thereof, is received by our Company within 20 business days from the date on which the letter 

containing the offer is delivered to the Eligible Person.

Any offer may be accepted in respect of less than the number of Class B Shares for which it is offered provided 

that it is accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Class B Shares or a multiple thereof. To the extent 

that the offer is not accepted within 20 business days from the date on which the letter containing the offer is 

delivered to that Eligible Person, it shall be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

Time of exercise of an option. An option may, subject to the rules of the 2021 ESOP and the terms and 

conditions upon which such option is granted, be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee giving notice in 

writing to our Company in such form as our Board may from time to time determine stating that the option is 

thereby exercised and the number of Class B Shares in respect of which it is exercised.

Duration. The 2021 ESOP shall be valid and effective for the period of ten years commencing on the Listing 

Date (after which, no further options shall be offered or granted), but in all other respects the provisions of the 

2021 ESOP shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any 

options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the rules of 

the 2021 ESOP.
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Outstanding options granted. As at December 31, 2021, our Company had granted 13,522,500 options 

to 86 grantees (including Directors and chief executive of our Company) under the 2021 ESOP. The total 

number of Class B Shares available for grant under the 2021 ESOP is 27,576,471 Class B Shares, representing 

approximately 5.54% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Details of movements of options granted under the 2021 ESOP during the Reporting Period are as follows: 

Name or category 

of grantees

Date of 

grant

Vesting 

period

Exercise

price

Number of 

our shares 

underlying 

options 

outstanding 

as at 

January 1, 

2021

Number of 

options 

granted 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

Number of 

options

 exercised 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

Number of 

options 

lapsed 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

Number of 

options

 cancelled 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

Number of 

our shares 

underlying 

option 

outstanding 

as at 

December 31, 

2021

Directors

Mr. Zhang 

Shaofeng(1)

December 29, 

2021

4 years HK$9.602 – 1,746,000 – – – 1,746,000

Mr. Zhao Hongqiang December 29, 

2021

4 years HK$9.602 – 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Ms. Zhao Jing December 29, 

2021

4 years HK$9.602 – 678,000 – – – 678,000

Employees

Other 83 

individuals

December 29, 

2021

4 years HK$9.602 – 9,098,500 – – – 9,098,500

The options granted shall be valid for a period of ten years from the date of grant. The options shall be vested in 

accordance with the timetable below:

Vesting Date Percentage of options to vest

December 29, 2023 50% of the total number of options granted

December 29, 2024 25% of the total number of options granted

December 29, 2025 25% of the total number of options granted
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Note:

1. As Mr. Zhang is a substantial shareholder of the Company, the grant will be subject to the approval by the independent Shareholders at 

the forthcoming AGM to be convened in due course pursuant to Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the 2021 ESOP are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Award Scheme
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Award Scheme. The Share Award Scheme does 

not involve the grant of any share options after Listing and is not subject to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose. The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (a) to align the interests of Eligible Persons with those 

of the Group through ownership of Class B Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the 

increase in value of the Class B Shares, and (b) to encourage and retain Eligible Persons to make contributions 

to the long-term growth and profits of the Group.

Eligible participant. Any individual, being an employee or director (including executive Directors, non-

executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors of any member of the Group or any Affiliate of 

the Group (including nominees and/or trustees of any employee benefit trust established for them), and any) 

officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture 

business partner or service provider of any member of the Group or any affiliate who the Board or its delegate(s) 

considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group (“Selected Participant”) 

is eligible to receive an Award. The Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to which the Board 

has delegated its authority may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion, grant an Award to a Selected 

Participant.

Maximum number of Class B Shares. The maximum aggregate number of Class B Shares which may be 

issued pursuant to all awards under the Share Award Scheme shall be 24,764,500 Class B Shares subject to an 

annual limit of 3% of the total number of issued Shares at the relevant time.

Duration. The Share Award Scheme shall become effective on the date of its adoption and shall terminate on 

the earlier of: (1) the end of the period of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date, except in respect of any 

non-vested Award Shares granted hereunder prior to the expiration of the Share Award Scheme, for the purpose 

of giving effect to the vesting of such Award Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the 

provisions of the Share Award Scheme; and (2) such date of early termination as determined by the Board 

provided that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any Selected Participant under the rules 

of the Share Award Scheme.

Outstanding award shares granted. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had awarded a total of 

14,257,500 award shares to 131 Selected Participants under the Share Award Scheme.
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Details of movements of award shares granted under the Share Award Scheme during the Reporting Period are 

as follows:

Name or category of 

grantees Date of grant Vesting Period

Held as at 

January 1, 2021

Number of award 

shares granted 

during the 

Reporting Period

Number of award 

shares exercised 

during the 

Reporting Period

Number of 

award shares 

lapsed during the 

Reporting Period

Held as as at 

December 31, 2021

Directors

Mr. Zhao Hongqiang December 29, 2021 1.5-4 years – 1,300,000 – – 1,300,000

Ms. Zhao Jing December 29, 2021 1.5-4 years – 651,000 – – 651,000

10 other connected 

 award grantees

December 29, 2021 1.5-4 years – 2,417,500 – – 2,417,500

119 unconnected award 

 grantees

December 29, 2021 1.5-4 years – 9,889,000 – – 9,889,000

Further details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased a total of 8,894,500 Class B Shares on the Stock 

Exchange at an aggregate consideration (including transaction cost) of approximately HK$143,744,421.35. 

Particulars of the Shares Repurchased are as follows:

Month of repurchase

No.of Class 

B Shares 

repurchased

Price paid per Class B Share Aggregate 

considerationHighest Lowest

(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)

June 2,559,000 22.60 19.10 53,803,177.87

July 1,226,000 20.65 17.72 23,268,124.98

August 159,000 12.34 11.58 1,905,749.51

September 1,846,000 15.48 11.76 25,389,206.57

October 2,190,000 13.78 12.08 28,496,468.45

November 914,500 12.60 10.90 10,881,693.97

Total 8,894,500 143,744,421.35
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As of December 31, 2021, the number of Class B Shares in issue was reduced by 3,785,000 shares as a 

result of the cancellation of the Shares Repurchased. Upon cancellation of the Shares Repurchased, the WVR 

Beneficiary of the Company, simultaneously reduced his WVR in the Company proportionately by way of 

converting his Class A Shares into Class B Shares on a one-to-one ratio pursuant to Rules 8A.21 of the Listing 

Rules, such that the proportion of shares carrying WVR of the Company shall not be increased, pursuant to the 

requirements under Rules 8A.13 and 8A.15 of the Listing Rules.

The Shares Repurchased in June and July 2021 were subsequently cancelled on August 10, 2021. A total of 

644,218 Class A Shares were converted into Class B Shares on a one-to-one ratio on August 10, 2021.

The Shares Repurchased from August to November 2021 were subsequently cancelled on February 21, 2022. A 

total of 849,268 Class A Shares were converted into Class B Shares on a one-to-one ratio on February 21, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed 

any of the Company’s securities listed on the Stock Exchange since the Listing Date and up to the date of this 

annual report.

Material litigation
The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the year ended December 31, 2021. 

The Directors are also not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against the 

Group during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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Use of proceeds from the Global Offering
On March 31, 2021, the shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The net 

proceeds from the global offering were approximately RMB3,170.39 million, after deducting of underwriting 

commissions and total expenses paid by the Company in connection with the Global Offering. There has been 

no change in the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus.

Since the Listing Date and up to December 31, 2021, the Group has gradually utilised the IPO Proceeds in 

accordance with the intended purposes stated in the Prospectus. The balance of IPO proceeds will continue to 

be utilised according to the manner and proportions as disclosed in the Prospectus. For details, please refer to 

the following table:

Net amount 

available 

upon Listing

Actual net amount 

utilised at 

December 31, 2021

Unutilised net 

amount at 

December 31, 2021

(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)

Fund business expansion, expand FSP 

 client base and penetrate into existing 

 FSP client base 1,426.68 216.67 1,210.01

Enhancements in research and 

 developments 951.12 79.54 871.58

Pursue strategic investments and 

 acquisitions to expand existing products 

 and services offerings, improve 

 technology capabilities, and enhance 

 value proposition to FSP clients 475.56 172.03 303.53

Working capital and general corporate 

 purposes 317.03 – 317.03

Total 3,170.39 468.24 2,702.15

The Group will expect to fully utilise the unutilised net amount by end of 2024.
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Dividends/Declaration of final dividend
The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Closure of register of members 
The register of members of the Company will be closed for the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ 

eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM to be held on Tuesday, May 31, 2022 from Thursday, May 26, 2022 

to Tuesday, May 31, 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. 

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the 

relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar in Computershare 

Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road 

East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, May 25, 2022.

Events after the Reporting Period
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant events that might affect the Group after 

the Reporting Period.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Bairong Inc.

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bairong Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(together the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 168, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at December 31, 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as at December 31, 2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our 

report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(w).

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group generates revenue from the provision 

of smart analytics and operation services, precision 

marketing services and insurance distribution services. 

The revenue from smart analytics and operation 

services, precision marketing services and insurance 

distribution services were RMB 737 million, 422 million 

and 464 mill ion, respectively, for the year ended 

December 31, 2021. 

Revenue from smart analytics and operation services 

is primarily generated from usage-based subscriptions 

contracts, and a small portion of revenue is generated 

from annual subscription contracts. Revenue on usage-

based subscription contracts is recognised over time 

utilising the right to invoice expedient when the service 

is provided and billed.

Revenue from precision marketing services is generally 

recognised at a point in time when a user applies for 

a financial product through the Group’s platform or 

when the user’s application is approved by the Group’s 

customer.

Insurance distribution services revenue is recognised 

at a point in time when the signed insurance policy is 

in place and the Group has a present right to payment 

from the insurance companies.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of 

revenue included the following:

• assessing the design, implementat ion and 

operating effectiveness of key internal controls 

over revenue recognition;

• confirming with customers, on a sample basis, 

the billing amounts for the year;

• fo r  unreturned conf i rmat ions ,  per fo rming 

alternative procedures by checking the result of 

periodic reconciliations of the billing amounts 

between the Group and its customers against the 

accounting ledgers, and checking the customer 

payment amounts appearing on bank statements 

against the accounting ledgers;

• inspecting manual adjustments to revenue 

raised during the reporting period or subsequent 

to the period end as a result of reconciliations 

with the customers, and comparing the amount 

of the adjustments with relevant underlying 

documentation on reconciliation;
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Key audit matters (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(w).

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group uses its information technology system 

(‘billing system’) to record the number of transactions 

with a customer and the billing amounts within a 

specified period for smart analytics and operation 

services.

The Group performs periodic reconciliations and 

confirms the billing amounts within a specified period 

with its customers across all the service lines. 

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit 

matter because revenue is one of the key performance 

indicators of the Group which gives rise to an inherent 

risk that revenue could be subject to manipulation to 

meet targets or expectations.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of 

revenue included the following: (Continued)

In addition to the above, the following procedures 

were performed on the revenue generated from smart 

analytics and operation services, in particular:

• assessing, with the assistance of KPMG IT 

specialists, the accuracy of the number of 

transactions generated from the billing system, 

and performing re-calculations of the billing 

amounts for smart analytics and operation 

services within a specified period, on a sample 

basis; and

• comparing, on a sample basis, the key billing 

information exported from the billing system, 

such as unit price, with the underlying customer 

contracts, and reconciling the amount of revenue 

billed in the billing system to the accounting 

system.
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Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor’s 
report thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information 

included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 

view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
(Continued)
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 

safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Pang Shing Chor, Eric.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 23, 2022
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for the year ended December 31, 2021

Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 4 1,623,464 1,136,532

Cost of sales (428,836) (298,395)

Gross profit 1,194,628 838,137

Other (loss)/income, net 5 (23,558) 34,642

Research and development expenses (252,006) (201,025)

General and administrative expenses (262,763) (199,857)

Sales and marketing expenses (575,988) (439,555)

Impairment loss 6(c) (276) (517)

Profit from operations 80,037 31,825

Net finance costs 6(a) (585) (10,161)

Changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit or loss 15 470 (775)

Changes in fair value of derivative instruments 18 20,727 -

Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares 28 (3,697,294) (131,486)

Loss before taxation 6 (3,596,645) (110,597)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 7 (7,388) 1,536

Loss for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

Attributable to:

 Equity shareholders of the Company (3,603,016) (110,555)

 Non-controlling interests (1,017) 1,494

Loss for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

Loss per share

Basic and diluted (RMB) 10 (9.16) (0.81)

The notes on pages 86 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended December 31, 2021

Expressed in RMB

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Total comprehensive income for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

Attributable to:

 Equity shareholders of the Company (3,603,016) (110,555)

 Non-controlling interests (1,017) 1,494

Total comprehensive income for the year (3,604,033) (109,061)

The notes on pages 86 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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as at December 31, 2021

Expressed in RMB

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Note

December 31,

2021

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 39,727 36,947

Intangible assets 12 62,925 30,091

Right-of-use assets 13 92,586 129,367

Goodwill 14 180,013 34,054

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15 46,268 3,542

Interests in associates 17 9,863 -

Deferred tax assets 29 5,386 12,575

Restricted cash 22(c) 5,722 5,722

442,490 252,298

Current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 21 229,610 41,166

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15 300,334 806,101

Loans receivable 20 - 6,351

Trade receivables 19 250,558 179,913

Restricted cash 22(c) 82,884 -

Time deposit 22(b) 200,000 -

Cash and cash equivalents 22(a) 3,346,487 41,949

Derivative financial assets 18 20,727 -

4,430,600 1,075,480

Current liabilities

Bank loans 23 51,000 -

Trade payables 24 94,624 53,136

Contract liabilities 26 48,347 39,868

Lease liabilities 27 35,302 44,896

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 25 406,216 142,033

635,489 279,933

Net current assets 3,795,111 795,547

Total assets less current liabilities 4,237,601 1,047,845

The notes on pages 86 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended December 31, 2021

Expressed in RMB

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

Note

December 31,

2021

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current liabilities

Redeemable convertible preferred shares 28 - 2,212,631

Lease liabilities 27 71,862 86,439

Deferred tax liabilities 29 11,205 5,847

83,067 2,304,917

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 4,154,534 (1,257,072)

Equity

Share capital 31(a) 64 19

Treasury shares 31(a) (60,739) -

Reserves 31(b) 4,189,672 (1,274,837)

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 4,128,997 (1,274,818)

Non-controlling interests 25,537 17,746

TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) 4,154,534 (1,257,072)

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 23, 2022.

Zhang Shaofeng Zhao Hongqiang

Director Director

The notes on pages 86 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021

Expressed in RMB

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Ordinary share Treasury shares Reserves

Note Shares Amount Shares Amount

Capital 

reserve

Accumulated 

deficit Total

Non-

controlling 

interests Total deficit

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance as at of January 1, 2020 30,315,353 19 (3,000,000) - 146,340 (1,347,340) (1,200,981) 16,252 (1,184,729)

Net loss - - - - - (110,555) (110,555) 1,494 (109,061)

Share-based compensation 30 - - - - 36,718 - 36,718 - 36,718

Balance as of December 31, 2020 

and January 1, 2021 30,315,353 19 (3,000,000) - 183,058 (1,457,895) (1,274,818) 17,746 (1,257,072)

Net loss - - - - - (3,603,016) (3,603,016) (1,017) (3,604,033)

Non-controlling interests from 

acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - 8,808 8,808

Issuance of ordinary shares, net of 

share issuance costs 31 123,822,500 16 - - 3,198,349 - 3,198,365 - 3,198,365

Conversion of redeemable convertible 

preferred shares to ordinary 

shares 28 219,890,065 29 - - 5,909,896 - 5,909,925 - 5,909,925

Effect of Share Subdivision 31 121,261,412 - (12,000,000) - - - - - -

Share-based compensation 30 - - - - 22,787 - 22,787 - 22,787

Cancellation of ordinary shares 31 (3,785,000) - 3,785,000 63,507 (63,507) - - - -

Repurchase of ordinary shares 31 - - (8,894,500) (118,272) - - (118,272) - (118,272)

Shares held for share award scheme 31 8,847,081 - (9,577,581) (5,974) - - (5,974) - (5,974)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 500,351,411 64 (29,687,081) (60,739) 9,250,583 (5,060,911) 4,128,997 25,537 4,154,534

The notes on pages 86 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended December 31, 2021

Expressed in RMB

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Operating activities

Net loss (3,604,033) (109,061)

Adjustments for:

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6(c) 18,009 17,990

 Amortisation of intangible assets 6(c) 2,201 1,305

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6(c) 64,112 58,547

 Loss on disposal of intangible assets 5 - 1,556

 Impairment loss 6(c) 276 517

 Finance costs 6(a) 8,607 10,851

 Changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value 

  through profit or loss 15 (470) 775

 Changes in fair value of financial derivatives 18 (20,727) -

 Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares 28 3,697,294 131,486

 Share-based compensation 30 22,787 36,718

 Deferred tax benefit 7 7,388 (1,536)

 Gains from wealth management products 5 (11,106) (10,095)

 Gains from trust plans 5 (13,164) (17,684)

 Gains from derivative financial instruments 5 (34,355) -

 Gains from USD fixed coupon note 5 (2,101) -

 Foreign exchange loss 5 97,709 782

 Share of profit of associates 17 (218) -

 Listing expenses 6(c) 25,112 -

Operating profit before changes in working capital 257,321 122,151

Changes in working capital

 (Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables 19 (277) 15,755

 Decrease/(Increase) in loans receivable 20 6,339 (3,089)

 (Increase)/Decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets 21 (161,856) 36,468

 Increase in trade payables 24 39,941 13,594

 (Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities 26 (23,134) 5,809

 Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities 25 146,805 18,071

Net cash generated from operating activities 265,139 208,759

The notes on pages 86 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended December 31, 2021

Expressed in RMB

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (20,486) (14,392)

Placement of long-term bank deposits 22(b) (200,000) -

Purchase of intangible assets 12 (635) (3,981)

Purchase of investments (6,530,428) (6,671,070)

Proceeds from sale of investments 7,054,665 6,437,668

Payments to acquire a subsidiary, net of cash acquired (79,136) -

Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 22(c) (82,884) -

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 141,096 (251,775)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares relating to the initial public 

offering, net of issuance cost 3,198,357 -

Listing expenses paid as financing activities (27,971) -

Repurchase of ordinary shares (124,985) -

Proceeds from bank loans 10,000 -

Interest paid 22(d) (705) -

Payment of lease liabilities 22(d) (58,684) (65,170)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 2,996,012 (65,170)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,402,247 (108,186)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 41,949 150,917

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (97,709) (782)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3,346,487 41,949

The notes on pages 86 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Principal Activities and Organisation
Bairong Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated on June 21, 2018 in the Cayman Islands as an exempted 

company with limited liability under the Companies Act, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and 

revised) of the Cayman Island.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries, Bairong Yunchuang 

Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Bairong”) and Beijing Bairong’s subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the 
“Group”), operates a leading independent AI-powered technology platform in China serving the financial 

services industry and is principally engaged in smart analytics and operation services, precision marketing 

services and insurance distribution services (the “Business”). The Group’s operations and geographic 

markets are in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

since March 31, 2021 by way of its initial public offering.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 

March 23, 2022.

2 Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable individual International 

Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of 

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable 

disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the group are disclosed below.

(b) Basis of preparation and presentation of the financial statements
The financial statements are presented in RMB, rounded to the nearest thousands, except for 

earnings per share information.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis, 

except for certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value as explained in Notes 2(g), (h) 

and (s).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation and presentation of the financial statements (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and other various factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of 

assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 

that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 

future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect on the 

financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

(c) Changes in accounting policies
The Group has initially adopted the following accounting policies for annual financial statements 

covering periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. Adopting these accounting policies does not 

have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

Effective Date

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16, 

 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 1 January 2021

Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 

 30 June 2021 1 April 2021

(d) Basis of consolidation
(i) Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired 

set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to 

the Group (Note 2(d)(ii)). In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a 

business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at 

a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to 

produce outputs.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Business combinations (Continued)
The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of 

whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration 

test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a 

single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the 

identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment 

(see Note 2(l)(ii)). Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity 

securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 

relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation 

to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified 

as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, 

other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent 

changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards 

held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the amount of 

the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in 

the business combination. This determination is based on the market-based measure of the 

replacement awards compared with the market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and the 

extent to which the replacement awards relate to pre-combination service.

(ii) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Group. The Group 

controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 

the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When 

assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other 

parties) are considered.

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not 

the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate 

to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual 

arrangements.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(ii) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from 

the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, 

transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are 

eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting 

from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the 

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly 

to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with 

the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual 

obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each 

business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair 

value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable 

assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within 

equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Non-controlling 

interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between 

non-controlling interests and the equity holders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-

controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as 

financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with Notes 2 

(q), (r) or (s) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of 

controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in 

relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire 

interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any 

interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair 

value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see 

Note 2(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a consolidated structured 

entity is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(l)(ii)), unless the investment is 

classified as held for sale.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(iii) Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements
As the Business conducted by Beijing Bairong is subject to foreign investment restrictions 

under the relevant PRC laws and regulations, Tianjin Bairong Technology Co., Ltd. (“WFOE”), 

an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a series of contractual 

arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing Bairong and its registered 

shareholders to operate the Business.

The equity interests of Beijing Bairong are legally held by individuals and companies who act as 

registered shareholders of Beijing Bairong on behalf of the WFOE. The contractual agreements 

include a Shareholder Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, an Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, 

an Exclusive Consulting and Services Agreement, an Equity Pledge Agreement and Spousal 

Consents (collectively, the “VIE Agreements”). Pursuant to the Contractual Agreements, the 

WFOE has the power to direct activities that most significantly impact the Beijing Bairong and 

its subsidiaries, including appointing key management, setting financial and operating policies, 

exerting financial controls and transferring profits or assets out of Beijing Bairong and its 

subsidiaries at its discretion. The WFOE considers that it also has the right to substantially all of 

the economic benefits of Beijing Bairong and has an exclusive option to purchase all or part of 

the equity interests in Beijing Bairong when and to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and 

regulations at the minimum price possible.

(e) Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group or company has significant influence, but not control 

or joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy 

decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the 

equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified 

as held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for 

any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net 

assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, 

other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into 

the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted 

for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment 

loss relating to the investment (see Note 2(l)(ii)). At each reporting date, the group assesses whether 

there is any objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, 

the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses 

for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share 

of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(e) Associates (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is 

reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group 

has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this 

purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method 

together with any other long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment 

in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are 

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses 

provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained 

interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 

method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is 

accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being 

recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant 

influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial 

recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(g)).

(f) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the 

acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a 

bargain purchase.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(f) Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business 

combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see 

Note 2(l)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill 

is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, are set out below:

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group 

commits to purchase/sell the investment. The investments in debt and equity securities are initially 

stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those investments measured 

at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit 

or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see Note 

32(e). These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification:

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the following measurement 

categories:

– amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which 

represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is 

calculated using the effective interest method.

– fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – recycling, if the contractual 

cash flows of the investment comprise solely payments of principal and interest and 

the investment is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 

the collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised 

in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of expected 

credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective interest method) and foreign 

exchange gains and losses. When the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated 

in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

– fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does not meet the criteria for 

being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the 

investment (including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

(ii) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity investment is not 

held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an 

irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent 

changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made 

on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the 

definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount 

accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) 

until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair 

value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit 

or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as 

at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy 

set out in Note 2(w)(v).

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At the end of each reporting period the 

fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or hedges of net 

investment in a foreign operation, in which case recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on 

the nature of the item being hedged.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 

(see Note 2(l)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment 

are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their 

estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as 

follows:

– Right-of-use assets Over the lease term

– Office and other equipment 3 – 5 years

– Electronic equipment 3 – 5 years

– Leasehold improvements the shorter of the unexpired term of 

lease and estimated useful lives
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(i) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the 

item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. 

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(j) Intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 

(where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(l)(ii)). Expenditure on 

internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is 

incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives 

are amortised from the date it is available for use and its estimated useful life is as follows:

– Software 5 – 10 years

– Insurance brokerage licence Indefinite useful life

– Customer base 5 years

– Backlog 2 years

The estimates and associated assumptions of useful life determined by the Group are based on 

technical and commercial obsolescence, legal or contractual limits on the use of the asset and other 

relevant factors. Based on the current functionalities equipped by the software and the daily operation 

needs, the Group considers a useful life of 5-10 years to be their best estimation.

Customer base and backlog acquired in a business combination is recognized at fair value at the 

acquisition date. The contractual customer base and backlog have a finite useful life and are carried 

out at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method 

over the expected life of 5 years for the customer base, and 2 years for the backlog.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any 

conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine 

whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that 

asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted 

for prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of 

intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(k) Lease

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has 
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected 
not to separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated 
non-lease components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, 
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides 
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those 
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease 
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the 
lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial 
recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using 
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are 
not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the 
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less 
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(i) and 2(l)(ii)), except for the following types of right-
of-use asset:

– right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are carried at fair value; and

– right-of-use assets related to leasehold land and buildings where the group is the registered 
owner of the leasehold interest are carried at fair value; and

– right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land where the interest in the land is held as 
inventory are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(k) Lease (Continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted for separately from the right-of-use 

assets in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to investments in debt securities carried at 

amortised cost. Any difference between the initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits is 

accounted for as additional lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to 

be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of 

whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-

use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or the 

consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”) 

that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on 

the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 

modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property and 

lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets 

measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other 

receivables).

Other financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 

present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to 

the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).



96 97ANNUAL REPORT 2021Bairong Inc.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the effect 

of discounting is material:

– fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables: effective interest rate 

determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

– variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information that 

is available without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events, current 

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

– 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events 

within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

– lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events 

over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s 

historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an 

assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month 

ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since 

initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

ECLs.
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(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since 

initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument 

assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making 

this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is 

unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions 

such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The 

Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, 

including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue 

cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk 

has increased significantly since initial recognition:

– failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal 

credit rating (if available);

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

– existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 

that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the 

Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in 

credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment 

is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit 

risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s 

credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment 

gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial 

instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance 

account, except for investments in debt securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for 

which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

fair value reserve (recycling).
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(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(w)(iv) is calculated based on the gross 

carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case 

interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less 

loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A 

financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

– significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

– it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have 

an adverse effect on the debtor; or

– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the 

issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the 

extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group 

determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 

sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal 

of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to 

identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, 

an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– intangible assets;

– right-of-use assets;

– goodwill;

– other non-current assets; and

– investments in subsidiaries and associates in the Company’s statement of financial 

position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for 

goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have 

indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any 

indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and 

value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 

their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not 

generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable 

amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate 

asset (for example, head office building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if 

the allocation can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest group 

of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or 

the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment 

losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) 

and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) 

on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its 

individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

– Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been 

a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would 

have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals 

of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are 

recognised.

(m) Other contract costs
Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or the 

costs to fulfil a contract with a customer, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and 

equipment (see note 2(i)) or intangible assets (see note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract 

with a customer that it would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained e.g. an 

incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred 

if the costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs are 

expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly to an existing contract or to a 

specifically identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that will be used to 

provide goods or services in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly 

to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour, 

allocations of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs that are 

incurred only because the Group entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors). 

Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and 

equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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(m) Other contract costs (Continued)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract cost asset 

exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive in 

exchange for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate directly to 

providing those goods or services that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or loss when the revenue to which the 

asset relates is recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in note 2(w).

(n) Contract assets and contract liabilities
A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see Note 2(w)) before being 

unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract 

assets are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(l)

(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has become unconditional 

(see Note 2(o)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before the 

Group recognises the related revenue (see Note 2(w)). A contract liability would also be recognised 

if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group 

recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised 

(see Note 2(o)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is 

presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not 

presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest 

accrued under the effective interest method (see Note 2(w)).

(o) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right 

to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of 

that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right 

to receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see Note 2(n)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit 

losses (see Note 2(l)(i)).
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(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and 

other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been 

within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected 

credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(l)(i).

(q) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities, 

trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting 

would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(r) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for 

borrowing costs (see Note 2(y)).

(s) Redeemable convertible preferred shares
The Company issued certain series of instruments to investors. The instrument holders have the right 

to require the Group to redeem all of the instruments held by the instrument holders at guaranteed 

predetermined fixed amount at certain redemption events, which are out of the control of the 

Group. Upon the completion of the IPO, all the redeemable convertible preferred shares have been 

automatically converted into our fully paid and non-assessable ordinary shares.

Pursuant to IFRS 9, the instrument issued to investors are accounted for in their entirety as financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, with fair value changes reflected in change in fair value 

of redeemable convertible preferred shares within the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income, except for the portion attributable to credit risk change that should 

be charged to other comprehensive income. Accordingly, the embedded conversion features do 

not require future evaluation, bifurcation, and separate accounting as embedded derivatives as the 

change in fair value of embedded features are reflected in the change in fair value in the compound 

instrument under such whole instrument approach. Issue costs that are directly attributable to the 

issue of the instruments, designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are 

recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income. The instrument are classified as non-current liabilities unless the Group has an obligation to 

settle the liability within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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(t) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans, 

salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement 

plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated 

services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect 

would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Share-based payment
The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with 

a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant 

date using the binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 

options were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming 

unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value of the options is spread over 

the vesting period, taking into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any 

resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to 

the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for 

recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, 

the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that 

vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due 

to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares. The 

equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is 

included in the amount recognised in share capital and share premium for the shares issued) or 

the option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, 

without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate 

employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result 

of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary 

redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary 

redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be 

estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the end of the years, then 

they are discounted to their present value.
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(u) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except 

to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 

of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences 

respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and 

unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 

be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax 

assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal 

of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation 

authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the 

expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising 

from the deferred tax assets can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when 

determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax 

asset arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if 

they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in 

a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary 

differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or 

liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business 

combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in 

the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that 

the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, 

unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or 

settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(u) Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 

to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it 

becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability 

to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately 

from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and 

deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company and the Group has the legally 

enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional 

conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company and the Group intends either to 

settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of 

deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise 

the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and 

settle simultaneously.

(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the 

Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that 

an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 

be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the 

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot 

be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of 

outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed 

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent 

liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by 

another party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually 

certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of the 

provision.

(w) Revenue recognition
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of 

services or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s 

business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, or the 

lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group 

is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue 

excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit 

to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount 

receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing 

transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest 

method. Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing 

benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest expense accreted 

on the contract liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage of the 

practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of 

a significant financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.
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(w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Smart analytics and operation services
(i) Information services:

Our revenue for smart analytics and operation services are derived from the provision of 

information services to our customers on a transactional basis, in which distinct services 

are delivered over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 

benefits of the services delivered. To measure our performance over time, the output 

method is utilised to measure the value to the customer based on the transfer to date of 

the services promised, with no rights of return once consumed. In these cases, revenue 

on usage-based subscription contracts with a defined price but an undefined quantity is 

recognised utilising the right to invoice expedient resulting in revenue being recognised 

when the service is provided and billed. Additionally, contracts with a defined price but 

an undefined quantity that utilise tier pricing would be defined as a series of distinct 

performance obligations satisfied over time utilising the same method of measurement, 

the output method, with no rights of return once consumed. This measurement method 

is applied on a monthly basis resulting in revenue being recognised when the service is 

provided and billed.

A small portion of our revenue is generated from annual subscription contracts under which 

a customer pays a preset fee for a predetermined or unlimited number of transactions or 

services provided during the subscription period, which is generally one year. Revenue 

from the subscription packages having a preset number of transactions is recognised as 

the services are provided, using an effective transaction rate as the actual transactions 

are delivered. Any remaining revenue related to unfulfilled units is not recognised until the 

end of the related contracts’ subscription period. Revenue from the subscription packages 

having an unlimited volume is recognized ratably during the contract term.

(ii) Localised solutions and projects:

Localised solutions and projects provide customised enhancement or upgrades to our 

customers’ risk management and underwriting systems. Revenue from these services is 

satisfied overtime as the Group provides services on customers’ sites which creates an 

asset that the customers control as the Group performs their service. The Group currently 

measures the stage of completion using the output method by reference to the completion 

status reports acknowledged by the customers. Under the output method, the Group 

recognises revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or 

services transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services 

promised under the contract that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring 

control of goods or services.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Precision marketing services
(i) Loans:

The Group provides recommendation services in respect of loan products offered by 

financial service providers on its platform, and assists the financial service providers or their 

loan sales representatives to identify qualified individual users or borrowers. The Group 

considers the financial service providers, including banks, micro-loan companies, consumer 

finance companies and other financial service providers to be their customers, and receives 

service fees from the customers primarily based on the number of applications of qualified 

borrowers. The price for each recommendation charged to the financial service providers 

is a fixed price or a percentage of loans approved as pre-agreed in the service contract, 

or pre-set in the bidding systems by the customers. Therefore, while loan size impacts 

our fees when the price for the recommendation charged to the FSPs is a percentage of 

the amount of loans approved by our customers, the loan duration does not impact our 

fees. Revenue is recognised when all of the revenue recognition criteria are met, which 

is generally when the identified borrowers submit a loan application to the customers or 

when the loan application is approved by our customers.

(ii) Credit card:

The Group provides recommendation services in respect of credit card products offered 

by credit card issuers on its platform. The individual users can select and apply for the 

credit cards, and submit applications to credit card issuers. The Group is not involved in 

the credit card approval or issuance process. Service fee is charged to the customers, 

i.e., the credit card issuers, upon one of the following circumstances: (i) completion of an 

application; (ii) issuance of a credit card to the users; or (iii) first usage of a credit card by 

the users, depending on the terms of the specific contracts with the customers. Revenue 

is recognised when all of the revenue recognition criteria are met, which is generally upon 

the completion of an application (or the issuance or first usage, depending on the terms of 

the specific contracts with the customers).

(iii) Insurance distribution services
The primary source of revenue is commissions from insurance distribution services, determined 

based on a percentage of premiums paid by the policy holder. The brokerage fee rate is based 

on the terms specified in the service contract with the insurance company for each product 

sold through the Group. The Group determined that the insurance company, or the insurer, is 

its customer in this agreement. Insurance distribution services revenue is recognised when the 

signed insurance policy is in place and the Group has a present right to payment from the insurer 

since the Group has fulfilled its performance obligation to sell an insurance policy on behalf of 

the insurance company.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective interest method using the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 

asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial assets measured at 

amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate 

is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the 

effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss 

allowance) of the asset (see Note 2(l)(i)).

(v) Dividends
Dividends income from equity investments is recognised when the investor’s right to receive 

payment is established.

(vi) Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position initially 

when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply 

with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred 

are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the 

expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted 

from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or 

loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(x) Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 

transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 

the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss except those arising from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge a 

net investment in a foreign operation which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date 

is the date on which the Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 

translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(x) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the exchange rates approximating the 

foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position items 

are translated into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. 

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 

separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to 

that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is 

recognised.

(y) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 

asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale 

are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 

which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when 

expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are 

necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing 

costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying 

asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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(z) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 

venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 

Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the 

key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 

personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 

influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 

are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 

management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 

Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 

segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products 

and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used 

to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. 

Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of 

these criteria.

The Group’s chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer, 

who reviews consolidated results when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the Group.

For the purpose of internal reporting and management’s operation review, the Group’s Chief 

Executive Officer and management personnel do not segregate the Group’s business by service lines. 

All service categories are viewed as one and the only operating segment.

3 Accounting Judgement and Estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following accounting 

judgements:

(a) Fair value of share-based compensation payments
As mentioned in Note 30, the Group has granted shares options to its employees. The Group has used 

binomial option-pricing model to determine the total fair value of the options granted to employees, 

which is to be expensed over the vesting period. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as the 

underlying equity value, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and dividend yield, is required to be 

made by the Group in applying the binomial option-pricing model.
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3 Accounting Judgement and Estimates (Continued)
(b) Fair value of financial instruments with preferred rights

As disclosed in Note 28, the fair value of financial instruments with preferred rights at the dates of 

issue and balance sheet dates were determined based on the valuation performed by an independent 

valuer, using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgements to select a variety of methods and 

make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the respective valuation 

dates. The Group has used discounted cash flow to determine the business value of the Group, 

followed by option pricing models to determine the fair value of financial instruments with preferred 

rights, which involved the use of significant accounting estimates and judgements.

(c) Recognition of income taxes and deferred tax assets
Determining income tax provision involves judgement on the future tax treatment of certain 

transactions. Management evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up 

accordingly. The tax treatments of such transactions are reconsidered periodically to take into account 

all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of deductible temporary 

differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can 

be utilised, management’s judgement is required to assess the probability of future taxable profits. 

Management’s assessment is revised as necessary and additional deferred tax assets are recognised 

if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(d) Impairment of trade receivables
The Group estimates the amount of loss allowance for ECLs on trade and other receivables that 

are measured at amortised cost on the credit risk of the respective financial instruments. The loss 

allowance amount is measured as the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit loss of the respective financial 

instrument. The assessment of the credit risk of the respective financial instrument involves high 

degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are less than expected or 

more than expected, a material impairment loss or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise, 

accordingly.

(e) Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires 

an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. 

Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 

from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the 

present value of those cash flows. Further details are given in Note 14.
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4 Revenue
The principal activities of the Group are providing smart analytics and operation services, precision 

marketing services and insurance distribution services in the PRC.

The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Smart analytics and operation services 736,580 533,384

Precision marketing services 422,422 264,505

Insurance distribution services 464,462 338,643

1,623,464 1,136,532

During the year, no customer individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue.

Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue recognition 

is set out below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Point-in-time 886,884 603,148

Over-time 736,580 533,384

1,623,464 1,136,532

Remaining Performance Obligation
The Group has elected the practical expedient not to disclose the information about remaining performance 

obligations which are part of contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less and do 

not disclose the value of remaining performance obligations for contracts in which the Group recognises 

revenue at the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

All of the Group’s operating assets are located in the PRC and all of the Company’s revenue and operating 

profits are derived from the PRC during the years. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on geographical 

locations is provided.
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5 Other (loss)/income, net

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Gains from wealth management products 11,106 10,095
Gains from trust plans 13,164 17,684
Gains from derivative financial instruments 34,355 –
Gains from USD fixed coupon note 2,101 –
Government grants and others 6,472 5,114
Extra deduction of input VAT 6,953 4,087
Loss on disposal of intangible assets – (1,556)
Foreign currency exchange loss(i) (97,709) (782)

(23,558) 34,642

Note:

(i) To help investors better understand the Group’s financial performance, foreign currency exchange loss has been changed from net 
finance costs to other (loss)/income, net. The comparative figures have been restated to conform with the new presentation.

6 Loss before taxation
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) Net finance costs

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest expense on bank loans 1,428 –
Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,179 10,851
Interest income from bank deposits (8,022) (690)

Subtotal 585 10,161

(b) Staff cost

Note 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, wages and other benefits 432,783 338,799
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan(i) 36,600 3,634
Equity-settled share-based compensation expenses 30 22,787 36,718
Termination benefits 2,817 4,013

Subtotal 494,987 383,164

Note:

(i) Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme 
administered and operated by the local municipal government. The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds which 
are calculated on certain percentages of the average employee salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the 
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
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6 Loss before taxation (Continued)
(c) Other items

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Data service costs 121,823 94,114

Distribution and marketing expenditures 315,897 221,057

Insurance brokerage commission costs 237,272 165,094

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,009 17,990

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,201 1,305

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 64,112 58,547

Impairment losses

– Trade receivables and others 264 326

– Loans 12 191

Listing expenses 25,112 20,901

Auditors’ remuneration 3,960 300

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax

– PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) Provision for the year – –

Deferred tax

– Reversal/(origination) of temporary differences 29 7,388 (1,536)

7,388 (1,536)
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7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax benefit and accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss before taxation (3,596,645) (110,597)

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at the rates applicable 

 in the jurisdictions concerned (899,161) (27,649)

Tax effect of preferential tax rate 1,332 (1,565)

Super-deduction of research and development expense (15,082) (12,559)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 5,065 11,277

Fair value changes in redeemable convertible preferred shares and 

 convertible loans not deductible for tax purpose 924,323 32,871

Tax effect of tax losses and temporary differences not recognised (9,089) (3,911)

Actual income tax expense/(benefit) 7,388 (1,536)

Notes:

Cayman Islands
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on either income or capital gain, the Cayman 

Islands does not impose a withholding tax on payments of dividends to shareholders.

Hong Kong
The Company’s Hong Kong subsidiaries, incorporated in July 2018, are subject to a profits tax rate of 8.25% for the first 

HKD2,000,000 of assessable profit and 16.5% for profit exceeding HKD2,000,000. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was 

made as the Group had no estimated assessable profit that was subject to Hong Kong profits tax for the years ended December 

31, 2021 and 2020.

PRC
Except for Beijing Bairong, Bairong Zhixin (Beijing) Credit Information Co., Ltd. (“Bairong Zhixin”) and Beijing All Union Technology 

Corp.(“All Union”) who enjoy a preferential income tax rate, all the other subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to an 

income tax rate of 25%, according to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) in the years ended December 31, 2021 

and 2020.

A “high and new technology enterprise” (“HNTE”) is entitled to a favorable statutory tax rate of 15% and such qualification is 

reassessed by relevant governmental authorities every three years. In December 2016, Beijing Bairong was qualified as an HNTE 

and therefore enjoyed the preferential statutory tax rate of 15% for the year ended December 31, 2019. In December 2019, Beijing 

Bairong received approval from the tax authority on the renewal of its HNTE status which entitled to the preferential income tax 

rate of 15% from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2022. In December 2020, Bairong Zhixin was qualified as an HNTE, which 

entitled to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2022. In December 2020, All Union was 

qualified as an HNTE, which entitled to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2022.
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8 Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments during the years were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2021

Directors’ 

fees

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Discretionary 

bonuses

Retirement 

scheme 

contributions Sub-Total

Share-based 

payments(i) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors

Zhang Shaofeng – 1,350 835 53 2,238 10 2,248

Zhao Hongqiang – 1,020 765 – 1,785 795 2,580

Zhao Jing – 808 540 37 1,385 523 1,908

Non-executive directors

Bai Linsen – – – – – – –

Ren Xuefeng – – – – – – –

Li Qiang – – – – – – –

Independent non-executive 

 directors

Chen Zhiwu – 241 – – 241 – 241

Zhou Hao – 241 – – 241 – 241

Guo Yike – 241 – – 241 – 241

Li Yao – 173 – – 173 – 173

– 4,074 2,140 90 6,304 1,328 7,632
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8 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

Directors’ 

fees

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Discretionary 

bonuses

Retirement 

scheme 

contributions Sub-Total

Share-based 

payments(i) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors

Zhang Shaofeng – 864 140 8 1,012 – 1,012

Zhao Hongqiang – 642 140 – 782 1,172 1,954

Zhao Jing – 719 100 8 827 597 1,424

Non-executive directors

Bai Linsen – – – – – – –

Ren Xuefeng – – – – – – –

Li Qiang – – – – – – –

– 2,225 380 16 2,621 1,769 4,390

Notes:

(i) These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors under the Group’s share option scheme. The value 
of these share options is measured according to the Group’s accounting policies for share-based payment transactions as set out in 
Note 2(t) (ii) and, in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants 
of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting.

(ii) The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of options granted, are disclosed under the 
paragraph Share option scheme in Note 30.

(iii) During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the director as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office. No director of the Group waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years.

(iv) Mr. Zhang Shaofeng and Mr. Zhao Hongqiang were appointed as executive directors of the Company in June 2018 and Mr. Bai 
Linsen was appointed as non-executive director of the Company at the same time. Ms. Zhao Jing was appointed as an executive 
director of the Company in November 2020. Mr. Ren Xuefeng was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in 
August 2019. Mr Li Qiang was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in July 2020, and has resigned as a non-
executive Director, with effect from June 17, 2021. Ms. Zhao Jing, an executive Director, has been re-designated from the senior 
finance director to finance vice president of the Group with effect from February 2021; and Dr. Li Yao has been appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director, with effect from June 17, 2021. Besides, Professor Chen Zhiwu, Mr. Zhou Hao and Professor 
Guo Yike, were appointed as independent non-executive directors with effect from Listing.

The amounts presented above represent the salaries, allowances and benefits in kind, discretionary bonus and retirement scheme 
contributions paid during the years.

(v) As disclosed in Note 30, under the 2021 ESOP, the Group was entitled to grant 1,746,000 share options to Zhang Shaofeng, the 
Group’s executive director. These options are subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting.
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9 Individuals with highest emoluments
The number of directors and non-directors included in the five highest paid individuals for the years ended 

December 31, 2021 and 2020 are set forth below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Directors – 1

Non-directors 5 4

5 5

The emoluments of the directors are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of 

the remaining highest paid individuals are as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7,744 4,257

Retirement scheme contributions 199 17

Discretionary bonuses 2,525 550

Share-based payment 4,336 6,458

Total 14,804 11,282

The emoluments of the other individuals with the highest emoluments are all within the following band:

2021 2020

Number of 

individuals

Number of 

individuals

Nil – HKD1,000,000 – –

HKD1,000,001 – HKD1,500,000 – –

HKD1,500,001 – HKD2,000,000 – –

HKD2,000,001 – HKD2,500,000 – –

HKD2,500,001 – HKD3,000,000 – 2

HKD3,000,001 – HKD3,500,000 4 1

HKD3,500,001 – HKD4,000,000 – –

HKD4,000,001 – HKD4,500,000 – –

HKD4,500,001 – HKD5,000,000 1 –

HKD5,000,001 – HKD5,500,000 – 1

HKD5,500,001 – HKD6,000,000 – –
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10 Basic and diluted loss per share
On March 16, 2021, pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution, each existing issued and unissued share of 

US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company were subdivided into 5 shares of US$0.00002 each 

(“Share Subdivision”). Following the Share Subdivision, the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share for the year 2021 and 2020 have been retrospectively 

adjusted.

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to equity shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 2021 and 2020.

The following table sets forth the basic loss per share computation and the numerator and denominator for 

the years presented:

2021 2020

Net loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company (RMB’000) (3,603,016) (110,555)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 393,297,173 136,576,765

Basic loss per share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 

 (in RMB per share) (9.16) (0.81)

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. In 2021 and 2020, the Company 

had two categories of potential ordinary shares: preferred shares and share options. As the Group incurred 

losses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the potential ordinary shares were not included in 

the calculation of diluted loss per share as their inclusion would result in anti-dilution. Accordingly, diluted 

loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were the same as basic loss per share of 

the respective periods.
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Electronic 

equipment

Office 

and other 

equipment

Leasehold 

improvements Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

As at January 1, 2020 43,342 4,529 22,591 70,462

Additions 11,066 639 2,687 14,392

Disposals (880) (152) – (1,032)

As at December 31, 2020/January 1, 2021 53,528 5,016 25,278 83,822

Additions 13,155 2,105 5,649 20,909

Disposals (531) (205) – (736)

As at December 31, 2021 66,152 6,916 30,927 103,995

Accumulated depreciation:

As at January 1, 2020 (21,578) (1,674) (6,529) (29,781)

Charge for the year (10,794) (1,342) (5,854) (17,990)

Disposals 770 126 – 896

As at December 31, 2020/January 1, 2021 (31,602) (2,890) (12,383) (46,875)

Charge for the year (10,862) (1,136) (6,011) (18,009)

Disposals 411 205 – 616

As at December 31, 2021 (42,053) (3,821) (18,394) (64,268)

Net book value:

As at December 31, 2020 21,926 2,126 12,895 36,947

As at December 31, 2021 24,099 3,095 12,533 39,727
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12 Intangible assets

Software Licence

Customer 

Base Backlog Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

As at January 1, 2020 6,421 23,280 – – 29,701

Additions 3,981 – – – 3,981

Disposals (2,075) – – – (2,075)

As at December 31, 2020/ 

 January 1, 2021 8,327 23,280 – – 31,607

Additions 3,135 – 27,200 4,700 35,035

Disposals – – – – –

As at December 31, 2021 11,462 23,280 27,200 4,700 66,642

Accumulated amortisation:

As at January 1, 2020 (730) – – – (730)

Charge for the year (1,305) – – – (1,305)

Disposals 519 – – – 519

As at December 31, 2020/

 January 1, 2021 (1,516) – – – (1,516)

Charge for the year (902) – (907) (392) (2,201)

As at December 31, 2021 (2,418) – (907) (392) (3,717)

Net book value:

As at December 31, 2020 6,811 23,280 – – 30,091

As at December 31, 2021 9,044 23,280 26,293 4,308 62,925

Intangible assets mainly comprise of software, insurance brokerage licence, customer base and backlog.

The insurance brokerage licence was acquired in the business combination of Liming and has an indefinite 

useful life. The legal term of the licence is 3 years but can be easily renewed upon expiry at an insignificant 

cost. Therefore, management concluded that the licence has indefinite useful life.
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12 Intangible assets (Continued)
The software acquired in the business combination of All Union has a useful life of 10 years. The customer 
base acquired in the business combination of All Union has a useful life of 5 years. The backlog acquired in 
the business combination of All Union has a useful life of 2 years.

The Group evaluates indefinite-lived intangible asset each reporting period to determine whether events 
and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. If an intangible asset that is not being 
amortised is subsequently determined to have a finite useful life, the asset is tested for impairment.

The Group performed impairment testing at the end of each reporting period. For details, please refer to 
Note 14.

13 Right-of-use assets

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

At January 1, 218,082 223,371

Inception of leases 27,331 20,011

Termination of leases (30,520) (25,300)

At December 31, 214,893 218,082

Accumulated depreciation:

At January 1, (88,715) (55,468)

Charge for the year (64,112) (58,547)

Termination of leases 30,520 25,300

At December 31, (122,307) (88,715)

Net book value:

At December 31, 92,586 129,367

14 Goodwill

RMB’000

Balance as of January 1, 2020 34,054

Balance as of December 31, 2020 34,054

Acquired during the year (Note 33) 145,959

Balance as of December 31, 2021 180,013
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14 Goodwill (Continued)
As at December 31, 2021, the goodwill of the Group was generated from the acquisition of All Union in 

2021 and acquisition of Liming in 2017. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Note

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Liming (i) 34,054 34,054

All Union (ii) 145,959 –

Total 180,013 34,054

Notes:

Impairment review on the goodwill and intangible assets of the Group has been conducted by the management as of December 31, 2021 

and 2020.

(i) For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and insurance brokerage licence are fully allocated to Liming, which is considered 

a separate cash generating unit (“CGU”), representing the lowest level within the Group for which the goodwill and insurance 

brokerage licence are monitored for internal management purpose.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and insurance brokerage licence is determined based on the value-in-use calculations using 

the discounted cash flow method. Management forecasted an average annual revenue growth rate of 20% for the next five-year 

period, and the cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using an estimated annual growth rates of 3%. Pre-tax 

discount rate of 19.5% was used to reflect market assessment of time value and the specific risks relating to the CGU.

(ii) For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible assets from acquisition of All Union (Note 33) are fully allocated 

to All Union, which is considered a separate CGU, representing the lowest level within the Group for which the goodwill and 

intangible assets are monitored for internal management purpose.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets is determined on the value-in-use calculations using the discounted 

cash flow method. The Group forecasted an average annual revenue growth rate of 25.69% for the next six-year period, and the 

cash flows beyond the six-year period were extrapolated using an estimated annual growth rate of 3%. Pre-tax discount rate of 

18.30% was used to reflect market assessment of time value and the specific risks relating to the CGU. The Group believes that 

it is appropriate to cover six years in its cash flow projection, because it captures the development stage of the Group’s business 

during which the Group expects to experience a high growth rate.

Based on the result of the above impairment review, no impairment was identified as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Management has not identified reasonably possible changes in key assumptions that could cause carrying amounts of the CGUs to 

exceed the recoverable amount.
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15 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Note

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current

– Unlisted equity securities (i) 46,268 3,542

Current

– Wealth management products (ii) 300,334 63,005

– Trust plans (ii) – 743,096

Total 346,602 809,643

Notes:

(i) As at December 31, 2020, the unlisted equity securities were shares in private companies incorporated in the PRC principally 

engaged in non-performing loan management service.

In September 2021, the Company acquired 12% equity interest of an unlisted equity. The company is incorporated in PRC 

principally engaged in market researching.

No dividends were received on these investments during the years.

(ii) Wealth management products were issued by commercial banks in the PRC, and the trust plans were operated by licensed trust 

management companies in the PRC.

16 Investment in subsidiaries

Note

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Investment in subsidiaries (i) 1,117,451 –

Deemed investment arising from share-based compensation (ii) 169,497 146,710

Investment in subsidiaries 1,286,948 146,710
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16 Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries as at December 31, 2021 which principally affected the results, 

assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Company names

Place and date of 

incorporation

Nature of 

legal entity

Registered 

Capital

Held by the 

Company

Held by the 

Subsidiary Principal activities

Directly held

Bairong HK Limited 

 (百融香港科技有限公司)

Hong Kong 

 July 18, 2018

limited liability 

company

HKD 10,000 100% – Investment holding

Baoshu Tech Limited 

 (保數香港科技有限公司)

Hong Kong 

 July 25, 2018

limited liability 

company

HKD 10,000 100% – Investment holding

Banyan HK Limited 

 (榕樹香港科技有限公司)

Hong Kong 

 July 18, 2018

limited liability 

company

HKD 10,000 100% – Investment holding

Indirectly held

Tianjin Bairong Technology Co., Ltd.

 (天津百融科技有限公司)*

Tianjin, PRC 

 August 14, 2018

limited liability 

company

RMB 

100,000,000

– 100% Development, consulting and transfer 

services of software and hardware 

products and network technology

Tianjin Baoshu Technology Co., Ltd.

 (天津保數科技有限公司)*

Tianjin, PRC 

 August 15, 2018

limited liability 

company

RMB 

100,000,000

– 100% Development, consulting and transfer 

services of software and hardware 

products and network technology

Tianjin Rongshu Technology Co., Ltd.

 (天津榕樹科技有限公司)*

Tianjin, PRC 

 August 14, 2018

limited liability 

company

RMB 

100,000,000

– 100% Development, consulting and transfer 

services of software and hardware 

products and network technology

Shanghai Bairong Huayu Technology 

 Co., Ltd. 

 (上海百融華昱科技有限公司)*

Shanghai, PRC 

 August 11, 2021

limited liability 

company

RMB 

50,000,000

– 100% Software development services; data 

processing services

Beijing Bairong Ruibo Technology 

 Co., Ltd. 

 (北京百融睿博科技有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 June 18, 2021

limited liability 

company

RMB 

10,000,000

– 100% Software development services; data 

processing services

Shanghai Yaowei Technology Co., 

 Ltd. (上海垚威科技有限公司)*

Shanghai, PRC 

 July 08, 2021

limited liability 

company

USD 

10,000,000

– 100% Software development services; data 

processing services

Beijing Shunzhixin Technology 

 Co., Ltd (北京順智信科技有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 January 08, 2015

limited liability 

company

RMB 

1,333,333

– 72% Software development services; data 

processing services
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16 Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

Company names

Place and date of 

incorporation

Nature of 

legal entity

Registered 

Capital

Held by the 

Company

Held by the 

Subsidiary Principal activities

Held through Contractual Arrangements

Bairong Yunchuang Technology 

 Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Bairong”) 

 (百融雲創科技股份有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 March 19, 2014

limited liability 

company

RMB 

82,814,387

– 100% Data processing services;  

big data services

Bairong Zhixin (Beijing) Credit Information 

 Co., Ltd. (“Bairong Zhixin”) 

 (百融至信(北京) 徵信有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 February 3, 2015

limited liability 

company

RMB 

50,000,000

– 100% Enterprise credit services

Beijing Rongda Tianxia Information 

 Technology Co., Ltd. 

 (北京榮達天下信息科技有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 October 15, 2014

limited liability 

company

RMB 

1,000,000

– 100% Technology development services

Guangzhou Shurong Internet Micro-lending 

 Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Shurong”) 

 (廣州數融互聯網小額貸款有限公司)*

Guangzhou, PRC 

 February 14, 2017

limited liability 

company

RMB 

100,000,000

– 100% Micro-loan business

Liming Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd. 

 (“Liming”) (黎明保險經紀有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 April 21, 2014

limited liability 

company

RMB 

55,555,500

– 63% Insurance and reinsurance brokerage business

Shanghai Baozhu Information Technology 

 Co., Ltd. (上海保筑信息科技有限公司)*

Shanghai, PRC 

 July 22, 2016

limited liability 

company

RMB 

5,000,000

– 100% Development, consulting and transfer services 

of technology

Shenzhen Bairong Borui Information 

 Technology Co., Ltd.

 (深圳百融博瑞信息科技有限公司)*

Guangdong, PRC 

 November, 12, 2020

limited liability 

company

RMB 

5,000,000

– 100% Development, consulting and transfer services 

of technology

Shandong Riyue Insurance Box Information 

 Technology Co., Ltd. 

 (山東日月保盒信息科技有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 February 2, 2018

limited liability 

company

RMB 

5,000,000

– 100% Software development services; data 

processing services

Hebei Xiong’an Bairong Information 

 Technology Co., Ltd.

 (河北雄安百融科技有限公司)*

Hebei, PRC 

 December, 21, 2020

limited liability 

company

RMB 

10,000,000

– 100% Development of computer system and 

software technology

Tianjin Saiji Technology Co., Ltd. 

 (天津賽吉科技有限責任公司)* (note 1)

Tianjin, PRC 

 January 21, 2019

limited liability 

company

RMB 

100,000,000

– 100% Development, consulting and transfer services 

of technology
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Company names

Place and date of 

incorporation

Nature of 

legal entity

Registered 

Capital

Held by the 

Company

Held by the 

Subsidiary Principal activities

Held through Contractual Arrangements 

(Continued)

Chongqing Bairong Ruida Technology Co., 

 Ltd. (重慶百融睿達科技有限公司)*

Chongqing, PRC 

 February 26, 2021

limited liability 

company

RMB 

50,000,000

– 100% Software development services; data 

processing services

Bairong Ruicheng Information Technology 

 Co., Ltd. (“Bairong Ruicheng”) 

 (百融睿誠信息科技有限公司)*

Chongqing, PRC 

 January 13, 2021

limited liability 

company

RMB 

200,000,000

– 100% Software development services; data 

processing services

Beijing All Union Technology Corp.

 (北京眾聯享付科技股份有限公司)*

Beijing, PRC 

 August 29, 2012

corporation 

limited

RMB 

10,000,000

– 52% Software development services; data 

processing services

* The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official names of these entities are in Chinese.

Note 1: Tianjin Saiji Technology Co., Ltd. was incorporated for reorganisation purpose and designed to repurchase ordinary shares 

and preferred shares from shareholders of Beijing Bairong. As the Group or Beijing Bairong has power to govern the relevant 

activities of Tianjin Saiji Technology Co., Ltd. and can derive benefits from the operating of the entity, the directors of the 

Company consider that it is appropriate to consolidate these entities.

16 Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) (Continued)
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16 Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii) The amount represents share-based compensation expenses arising from the grant of share options and share award scheme of 

the Company to employees of the subsidiaries (Note 30) in exchange for their services provided to these subsidiaries, which were 

deemed to be investments made by the Company into these subsidiaries.

The share-based compensation was implemented through structured entities, and its particulars are as follows:

Company names

Place and date of 

incorporation

Nature of legal 

entity

Registered 

Capital

Held by the 

Company

Held by the 

Subsidiary

Principal 

activities

Structured Entities

GeniAI Tech Ltd. (“ESOP entity”) (note 1) British Virgin Islands 

 October 19, 2018

limited liability 

company

USD1 100% – Investment holding

GeniAI Tech II Ltd. (“ESOP entity”) (note 1) British Virgin Islands 

 September 14, 2021

limited liability 

company

USD1 100% – Investment holding

GeniAI Tech III Ltd. (“ESOP entity”) (note 1) British Virgin Islands 

 December 2, 2021

limited liability 

company

USD1 100% – Investment holding

Rongtuo Holdings Limited Cayman Islands 

 September 28, 2018

limited liability 

company

USD1 100% – Investment holding

Tianjin Bairong Tongchuang Enterprise 

 Management Consulting Center (L.P.) 

 (天津百榮同創企業管理諮詢中心(有限合伙))* (note 1)

Tianjin, PRC 

 August 5, 2014

limited 

partnership

RMB 300,000 – 100% Enterprise 

management 

consulting

Note 1: GeniAI Tech Ltd., GeniAI Tech II Ltd., GeniAI Tech III Ltd., Rongtuo Holdings Limited and Tianjin Bairong Tongchuang 

Enterprise Management Consulting Center (L.P.) were incorporated as a vehicle to hold the ordinary shares of the Company 

or Beijing Bairong, separately, under the share-based compensation plan. As the Group or Beijing Bairong has power to 

govern the relevant activities of GeniAI Tech Ltd., GeniAI Tech II Ltd., GeniAI Tech III Ltd., Rongtuo Holdings Limited and 

Tianjin Bairong Tongchuang Enterprise Management Consulting Center (L.P.) and can derive benefits from the operating of 

these entities, the directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate to consolidate these entities.
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17 Interests in associates

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted entities 9,863 –

The Group has interests in a number of immaterial associates that are invested through All Union and are 

accounted for using the equity method.

There were no material contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in the associates.

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year – –

Additions 9,645 –

The Group’s share of profit 218 –

Investment in associates 9,863 –

18 Derivative financial assets

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Derivative financial assets 20,727 –

The Company entered into several foreign exchange forwards and options to manage the Company’s 
foreign exchange exposure in relation to USD$ against RMB. These derivative instruments are not 
designated for hedge purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. To secure such 
contracts, the Company had deposited an amount of USD$13.00 million (RMB82.88 million) (see note 22(c)) 
and recognised it in restricted cash as of December 31, 2021.
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19 Trade receivables

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 253,415 182,746

Less: loss allowance (2,857) (2,833)

Trade receivables, net 250,558 179,913

Ageing analysis
As of the end of each of the year, the ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the transaction date 
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 3 months (inclusive) 239,474 167,478

3 months to 6 months (inclusive) 9,942 10,831

6 months to 1 year (inclusive) 3,288 2,931

Over 1 year 711 1,506

Less: loss allowance (2,857) (2,833)

Trade receivables, net 250,558 179,913

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 
32(a).
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20 Loans receivable

As at 

December 31,

As at 

December 31,

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loans facilitated through Guangzhou Shurong

– Consumer loans 286 2,318

– Corporate loans – 4,307

Loans receivable 286 6,625

Less: allowance for loan losses (i) (286) (274)

Loans receivable, net – 6,351

Note:

(i) The Group recognises ECLs of the underlying loan using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 

adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic 

conditions at the reporting date.

The following table presents the ageing of past-due loan principles as of December 31, 2020 and 2021, 

respectively:

Total 

current

1 – 90 days 

past due

Over 90 days 

past due Total loans

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As of December 31, 2020 6,374 251 – 6,625

As of December 31, 2021 – – 286 286
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20 Loans receivable (Continued)
The following table presents the movements in the allowance for loan losses are as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 274 106

Additions 12 191

Write-off – (23)

Balance at the end of the year 286 274

The following table presents an analysis of the relevant maturity based on the remaining periods to 

repayment at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively:

As at 

December 31,

As at 

December 31,

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 3 months (inclusive) – 4,330

Between 3 months and 1 year (inclusive) – 2,021

Loans receivable, net – 6,351

21 Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Note

As at 

December 31,

2021

As at 

December 31,

2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments to digital goods providers (i) 135,732 –

Advances to suppliers 38,049 9,102

Deposits 25,833 17,223

Prepaid expenses 7,419 5,995

Others 22,577 8,846

Total 229,610 41,166

Note:

(i) Prepayments to digital goods providers mainly represent refundable prepayments and deposits to online platform operators and 

digital goods providers under the smart analytics and operation services.
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22 Cash and cash equivalents, time deposit and restricted cash
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

As at 

December 31,

As at 

December 31,

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at bank 3,341,125 41,850

Cash equivalents(i) 5,297 34

Cash on hand 65 65

Cash and cash equivalents 3,346,487 41,949

(i) Cash equivalents represents cash balances kept in third party payment platform, which can be withdrawn by the Group at 

any time.

(b) Time deposit

As at 

December 31,

As at 

December 31,

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Time deposit 200,000 –

As at December 31, 2021, time deposits with initial terms of over three months were neither past 
due nor impaired, the carrying amounts of the time deposits with initial terms of over three months 
approximated their fair values. The effective interest rate for year ended December 31, 2021 was 
3.45%.

(c) Restricted cash

As at 

December 31,

As at 

December 31,

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Restricted cash(i) 5,722 5,722

Current assets

Restricted cash(ii) 18 82,884 –

Total 88,606 5,722
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22 Cash and cash equivalents, time deposit and restricted cash (Continued)
(c) Restricted cash (Continued)

Restricted cash consists of funds that are contractually restricted as to usage or withdrawal due to 
regulatory requirement. The Group’s restricted cash are all denominated in RMB and are all placed at 
financial institutions in the mainland of the PRC. The Group has presented restricted cash separately 
from cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statement of financial position. The balances of 
the Group’s restricted cash primarily comprise the following:

(i) In accordance with the rules issued by China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission 
(CBIRC), the Group’s insurance brokerage subsidiary, Liming, sets aside cash funds as a liquidity 
reserve.

(ii) As disclosed in Note 18, the bank deposits were set aside to secure the Company’s foreign 
exchange contracts. Such deposits will be released upon settlement of the derivative financial 
assets.

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows 
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as 
cash flows from financing activities.

Lease 

liabilities

Redeemable 

convertible 

preferred 

shares Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At January 1, 2020 165,643 2,081,145 2,246,788

Change from financing cash flows:

Payment of lease liabilities (65,170) – (65,170)

Change in fair value – 131,486 131,486

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities 20,011 – 20,011

Interest expenses 10,851 – 10,851

As at December 31, 2020 131,335 2,212,631 2,343,966
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22 Cash and cash equivalents, time deposit and restricted cash (Continued)
(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

Bank 

loans

Interests 

payable

Lease 

liabilities

Redeemable 

convertible 

preferred 

shares Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At January 1, 2021 – – 131,335 2,212,631 2,343,966

Changes from financing cash flows:

Payment of lease liabilities – – (58,684) – (58,684)

Proceeds from short-term bank loans 10,000 – – – 10,000

Interest paid – (705) – – (705)

Change in fair value – – – 3,697,294 3,697,294

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities – – 25,273 – 25,273

Interest expenses – 1,428 7,179 – 8,607

Conversion of preference shares – – – (5,909,925) (5,909,925)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 41,000 – 2,061 – 43,061

As at December 31, 2021 51,000 723 107,164 – 158,887

23 Bank loans

As at 

December 31,

As at 

December 31,

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term bank loans, unsecured 18,000 –

Short-term bank loans, secured 33,000 –

51,000 –

All of the Group’s bank loans are repayable within 1 year and denominated in RMB, and bear average 
interest rate of 5.66% per annum.

The Group’s bank loans were borrowed by All Union, RMB41.00 million of which was borrowed prior to the 
Group’s acquisition of the subsidiary in October 2021.
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24 Trade payables

As at 
December 31,

As at 
December 31,

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due to third parties 94,624 53,136

As of the end of each of the year, the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as 
follows:

As at 
December 31,

As at 
December 31,

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 6 months 88,365 48,797
6 months to 1 year 5,778 2,837
1 to 2 years 481 1,502

94,624 53,136

All of the trade payables are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable on demand.

25 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

As at 
December 31,

As at 
December 31,

Note 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

Receipts in advance (i) 112,780 –
Accrued payroll and welfare 111,945 84,317
Accrued expenses 43,034 39,498
Value Added Tax, withholding tax and surcharges payable 56,659 13,650
Deposit received 2,090 4,050
Others 79,708 518

Total 406,216 142,033

All of the accrued expenses and other current liabilities are expected to be settled and expensed within 
one year or are repayable on demand.

Note:

(i) Receipts in advance mainly represent advances from customers for purchasing digital goods under the smart analytics and 
operation services.
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26 Contract liabilities
Movements in contract liabilities are as below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at January 1, 39,868 34,059

Additions 259,224 215,724

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue 

 during the year that was included in the contract liabilities at 

 the beginning of the year (39,868) (34,059)

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue 

 during the same year (210,877) (175,856)

Balance at December 31, 48,347 39,868

27 Lease liabilities
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of 

the reporting periods:

As at 

December 31,

As at 

December 31,

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Maturity analysis-contractual undiscounted cash flows

Within 1 year or on demand 52,217 53,855

More than 1 year but less than 2 years 39,193 43,223

More than 2 years 19,821 51,813

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 111,231 148,891

Less: total future interest expenses (4,067) (17,556)

Present value of lease liabilities 107,164 131,335

Lease liabilities included in the consolidated statement of financial position

Current 35,302 44,896

Non-current 71,862 86,439

Present value of lease liabilities 107,164 131,335
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27 Lease liabilities (Continued)

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Interest on lease liabilities 7,179 10,851

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of cash flows

Total cash flow for leases 58,684 65,170

28 Redeemable convertible preferred shares
On November 26, 2014, Beijing Bairong entered into a shares purchase agreement with certain investors 

and pursuant to the agreement, on December 8, 2014, Beijing Bairong issued 511,499 Redeemable 

convertible Series A Preferred Shares (“Former Series A Preferred Shares”) for an aggregated consideration 

of RMB50,000,000. On January 25, 2015, as approved by the shareholders, Beijing Bairong converted all 

of its additional paid in capital to ordinary shares and Series A Preferred Shares, on a pro-rata basis, based 

upon the numbers of ordinary shares held by each holder of ordinary shares and preferred shares (calculated 

on an as-converted basis). After the conversion, the number of shares held by Series A Preferred 

Shareholders was 10,024,590.

On April 4, 2015, Beijing Bairong entered into a shares purchase agreement with certain investors and 

pursuant to the agreement, on April 23, 2015, Beijing Bairong issued 1,108,443 Redeemable convertible 

Series A+ Preferred Shares (“Former Series A+ Preferred Shares”) for an aggregated consideration of 

RMB10,000,000.

On September 11, 2015, Beijing Bairong entered into a shares purchase agreement with certain investors 

and pursuant to the agreement, on December 4, 2015, Beijing Bairong issued 8,024,826 Redeemable 

convertible Series B Preferred Shares for an aggregated consideration of RMB150,000,000, of which 

RMB115,289,000 and RMB34,711,000 was received in the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, 

respectively. In addition, Beijing Hongshan Xinyuan Equity Investment Center purchased 2,674,942 existing 

ordinary shares from the ordinary shareholders, with an aggregate consideration of RMB50,000,000, which 

were converted to preferred shares (“Sequoia Preferred Shares”) on December 4, 2015. The terms of the 

Sequoia Preferred Shares are identical to that of the Redeemable convertible Series B Preferred Shares 

except for its liquidation preference as described in the paragraph headed “Liquidation Preference” of this 

note.

The 8,024,826 Redeemable convertible Series B Preferred Shares and 2,674,942 Sequoia Preferred Shares 

are collectively referred to as “Former Series B Preferred Shares”.
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28 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued)
On June 3, 2016, Beijing Bairong entered into a shares purchase agreement with certain investors and 
pursuant to the agreement, on June 12, 2016, Beijing Bairong issued 7,350,498 Redeemable convertible 
Series B+ Preferred Shares for an aggregated consideration of RMB300,000,000. In addition, three other 
investors purchased 4,042,774 existing ordinary shares from the ordinary shareholders, with an aggregate 
consideration of RMB110,000,000, which were converted to preferred shares on June 3, 2016. After the 
conversion, the terms of such preferred shares are identical to that of the Redeemable convertible Series 
B+ Preferred Shares, except that such shares are not entitled to liquidation preference.

The 7,350,498 Redeemable convertible Series B+ Preferred Shares and 4,042,774 Redeemable convertible 
Series B+ Preferred Shares are collectively referred to as “Former Series B+ Preferred Shares”.

Pursuant to a share purchase agreement with an investor, Beijing Bairong issued 9,309,405 Redeemable 
convertible Series C Preferred Shares (“Former Series C Preferred Shares”) in February 2018 for an 
aggregated consideration of RMB506,600,000, of which RMB485,100,000 was received in the year ended 
December 31, 2018.

On June 27, 2019, the Company issued Series A, A+, B, B+, and C redeemable convertible preferred 
shares to the same third party investors, effectively exchanging all of their Series A, A+, B, B+, and C 
redeemable convertible preferred shares of Beijing Bairong into the redeemable convertible preferred 
shares of the Company. The terms of the preferred shares of the Company substantially mirrored those 
of the preferred shares of Beijing Bairong. The Series A, A+, B, B+, and C redeemable convertible 
preferred shares issued in connection with the Reorganisation include 21,927,741 shares issued at par for 
notional consideration of RMB16,000, and 20,607,737 shares issued for a total notional consideration of 
RMB889,936,000.

The preferred shareholders issued promissory notes to the Company on June 27, 2019 with notional 
principal amounts equal to the above total notional consideration of RMB889,952,000. The promissory 
notes issued by the preferred shareholders served as loan commitments granted by the Company, as 
Beijing Bairong commits to first pay to the shareholders the cash consideration equal to their investment 
costs of the preferred shares of Beijing Bairong, which are capped at the notional principal of the 
promissory notes. Upon drawing down such amounts from Beijing Bairong, the shareholders would be 
obliged to return such amounts to the Company within 10 business days in the form of repayments for the 
promissory notes. Though the loans granted under the loan commitment would be interest-free, given that 
the tenor is within 10 business days, the Company considers the fair value of the loan commitment to be 
immaterial.

On June 27, 2019, the Company issued 1,837,624 Series C+ redeemable convertible preferred shares to 
the convertible loan investor of Beijing Bairong upon the conversion of the entire principal of the convertible 
loan.

In September 23, 2020, the Company approved the surrender of 395,089 Series C redeemable convertible 
preferred shares by one of the shareholders.
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28 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued)
The key terms of the preferred shares are as follows:

Shareholders’ Redemption Rights upon occurrence of specified events
The preferred shares are redeemable by the holders if the Company fails to complete a Qualified IPO prior 

to a specified no-IPO redemption date or upon occurrence of other specified contingent events. “Qualified 

IPO” means an initial public offering of the shares of the Company on a stock exchange acceptable to 

the holders of the preferred shares, provided that the Company’s 2019 market capitalisation shall be no 

less than RMB8.5 billion and determined in a manner acceptable to the holders representing at least the 

majority of the issued and outstanding preferred shares. The initial no-IPO redemption date was September 

11, 2020 upon the issue of the preferred shares, and such date was subsequently revised to September 

11, 2021 as approved by the holders of the preferred shares on July 6, 2020. In November 13, 2020, the 

shareholders agreed to further extend such date to July 1, 2022 should the Company submit a Form A1 

with the Stock Exchange on or prior to December 31, 2020. Upon a redemption triggered by the contingent 

events stated above, the redemption price shall equal to the following:

(i) for each Series A Preferred Share, Series A+ Preferred Share and Series B Preferred Share redeemed, 

the Redemption Price shall be 150% of the original issue Price, plus any declared but unpaid 

dividends; or

(ii) for each Series B+ Preferred Share, Series C Preferred Share, Series C+ Preferred Share redeemed, 

the Redemption Price shall equal to the sum of the original Preferred Shares issue price, plus an 

amount accruing daily at 10% of the original preferred shares issue price per annum and all declared 

but unpaid dividends.

Liquidation Preference
In the event of any liquidation including deemed liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, 

holders of the preferred shares shall be entitled to receive a per share amount equal to the higher of (i) and 

(ii) below.

(i) the original preferred shares issue price for the respective series; and

(ii) the fair market value of the relevant series of preferred shares on the date of liquidation.

Upon completion of the IPO, all preferred rights of the holders of preferred shares will be terminated and 

the preferred shares will be automatically converted to ordinary shares.

Based on the feature above, the Group designated the above preferred shares as financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss.

The Group measures each series of the preferred shares at the higher of the present value of the share 

redemption amount and the fair value as determined using the valuation models as described below.
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28 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued)
Valuation
The Group applied the discount cash flow method (“DCF method”) to determine the underlying equity 

value of the Company and used the option-pricing method and equity allocation model to determine the fair 

value of the Preferred Shares as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The DCF method involves applying appropriate weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”), to discount 

the future cash flow forecast to present value. The WACC was determined based on a consideration of 

the factors including risk-free rate, comparative industry risk, equity risk premium, company size and non-

systematic risk factors. The Group also applied a discount for lack of marketability (“DLOM”), which was 

quantified by the Chaffee’s European put options-pricing model. Under this option-pricing method, which 

assumed that the put option is struck at the spot price of the stock before the privately held shares can be 

sold, the cost of the put option was considered as a basis to determine the DLOM.

Key assumptions are set as below:

As at 

December 31, 

2020

WACC 15.18%

DLOM 10.00%

On March 31, 2021, the Company was successfully listed in the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 

and made an offering of 123,822,500 ordinary shares at a price of HK$31.80 per share. All redeemable 

convertible preferred shares were converted into ordinary shares upon completion of the IPO on March 31, 

2021.

Fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares were recorded in “changes in fair value of 

redeemable convertible preferred shares”, and the loss in fair value changes for the year ended December 

31, 2021 resulted from the significant increase in the valuation of the Company, which was determined by 

the offering price of the Company’s shares in the Global Offering on March 31, 2021.
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29 Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

and the movements during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax arising from:

Deductible 

accumulative 

losses

Impairment 

losses

Others 

deductible 

temporary 

difference

Changes in 

the fair value

Identified 

intangible 

assets from 

acquisition Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At January 1, 2020 7,876 2,201 1,299 (364) (5,820) 5,192

Credited/(charged) to 

 profit or loss (Note 7(a)) (283) 48 1,583 188 – 1,536

At December 31, 2020 and 

 January 1, 2021 7,593 2,249 2,882 (176) (5,820) 6,728

Credited/(charged) to 

 profit or loss (Note 7(a)) (7,178) (720) 560 (215) 165 (7,388)

Charged to reserves – – – – (5,159) (5,159)

At December 31, 2021 415 1,529 3,442 (391) (10,814) (5,819)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net deferred tax asset recognised in the consolidated statement 

 of financial position 5,386 12,575

Net deferred tax liability recognised in the consolidated statement 

 of financial position (11,205) (5,847)

At the end of year (5,819) 6,728
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29 Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Continued)
(iii) Deferred tax assets not recognised

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of 

RMB175,794,000.00 and RMB143,677,000.00 as at December 31, 2020 and 2021, as it is not 

probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the 

relevant tax jurisdiction before they expire.

30 Share-based compensation
2019 ESOP
As part of the Company’s re-organization prior to its IPO, the Company adopted a share incentive plan 

(the “2019 ESOP”) in August 2019. Under the 2019 ESOP, the Company was entitled to grant the total 

12,963,556 share options to employees, officers, directors and individuals of Beijing Bairong.

Share options granted to an employee under the 2019 ESOP will be exercisable upon the employee renders 

service to Beijing Bairong in accordance with a stipulated service schedule starting from the employee’s 

date of employment. Employees are generally subject to a four-year service schedule commencing from 

the employees’ date of employment, under which an employee is entitled to vest in 50% of his option 

grants for the first two years of completed service and entitled to vest in 25% of his option grants annually 

thereafter of completed service.

Upon the Share Subdivision became effective, pro-rata adjustments have been made to the number of 

outstanding awarded shares, so as to give the participants the same proportion of the equity capital as 

that they were entitled to before the effect of the share subdivision. The exercise price of all the options 

granted under the 2019 ESOP is RMB1.0 which was adjusted to RMB0.2 per share after the subdivision on 

March 16, 2021.
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)
2019 ESOP (Continued)
The Company granted 395,000 and nil share options to employees, all with an exercise price of RMB1, for 

the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, respectively. The following table sets forth the share option 

shares activities under the 2019 ESOP Plan for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021:

Note

Options 

outstanding

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

RMB

Outstanding at January 1, 2020 (i) 9,566,929 1

Granted (i) 395,000 1

Exercised (i) – 1

Forfeited (i) (681,682) 1

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 (i) 9,280,247 1

Granted (i) – 1

Exercised (i) – 1

Forfeited (i) (613,250) 0.2-1

Effect of Share Subdivision (ii) 36,692,988 0.2

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 45,359,985 0.2

Notes:

(i) The numbers of shares were presented as before the effect of the Share Subdivision.

(ii) It represented the effects of adjustments made to the numbers of shares as a result of the Share Subdivision.
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)
2019 ESOP (Continued)
The weighted-average remaining contract life for outstanding share options was 5.74 years as of December 

31, 2021 (2020: 6.78 years).

Options granted to employees were measured at fair value on the dates of grant based on the Binomial 

Option Pricing Model with the following assumptions:

2020

Expected volatility 33%–36%

Risk-free interest rate 2.85%–3.28%

Exercise multiple 2

Expected dividend yield –

Expected term (in years) 10

Fair value of the underlying shares on the date of option grants (per share) RMB27.00–27.13

2021 ESOP
The Company adopted the post-IPO share option scheme (the “2021 ESOP”) on March 16, 2021 with 

effect from the initial public offering. Under the 2021 ESOP, the Group was entitled to grant the total 

41,098,971 share options to employees, officers, directors and individuals of the Group.

Share options granted to an employee under the 2021 ESOP will be exercisable upon the employee 

renders service to the Group in accordance with a stipulated service schedule starting from the relevant 

performance period. Employees are generally subject to a four-year service schedule, under which an 

employee is entitled to vest in 50% of his option grants for the first two years of completed service and 

entitled to vest in 25% of his option grants annually thereafter of completed service.
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)
2021 ESOP (Continued)
Movements in the number of share options granted to employees and their related weighted average 

exercise prices are as follow:

Options 

outstanding

Weighted 

average 

exercise price

RMB

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 – Not applicable

Granted(i) 13,522,500 7.75

Exercised – Not applicable

Forfeited – Not applicable

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 13,522,500 7.75

The weighted-average remaining contract life for outstanding share options was 10.00 years as of 

December 31, 2021.

Options granted to employees were measured at fair value on the dates of grant based on the Binomial 

Option Pricing Model with the following assumptions:

2021

Expected volatility 33.00%

Risk-free interest rate 1.58%

Exercise multiple 2 – 2.8

Expected dividend yield –

Expected term (in years) 10

Fair value of the underlying shares on the date of option grants (per share) RMB7.75

Note:

(i) Under the 2021 ESOP, the Group was entitled to grant 1,746,000 share options to Zhang Shaofeng, the Group’s executive director. 

These options are subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting.
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)
Share Award Scheme
The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) on May 28, 2021. Under the 

Share Award Scheme, the Group granted 14,257,500 of restricted share units (the “RSUs”) to the Group’s 

employees, consultants, and directors during the year 2021. The RSUs awarded vest in tranches from 

the grant date over a certain service period, on condition that employees remain in service without any 

performance requirements. Once the vesting conditions underlying the respective RSUs are met, the RSUs 

are considered duly and validly issued to the holder, and free of restrictions on transfer.

The fair value of each RSU at the grant date were determined by reference to the fair value of the ordinary 

shares of the Company that issued to its shareholders. Movements in the number of RSUs and the 

respective weighted average grant date fair value are as below:

Number of 

RSUs

Weighted 

average 

grant date 

fair value 

per RSU

RMB

Outstanding at January 1, 2021 – Not applicable

Granted 14,257,500 7.75

Exercised – –

Forfeited (30,000) 7.75

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 14,227,500 7.75
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)
Share Award Scheme (Continued)
The total share-based compensation expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss are RMB22.79 million and RMB36.72 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively. The following table sets forth a breakdown of share-based compensation by nature:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

2019 ESOP 22,504 36,718

2021 ESOP 72 –

Share Award Scheme 211 –

Total 22,787 36,718

31 Capital and reserves
(a) Share capital

The Group’s history began in March 2014 with the commencement of operation of Beijing Bairong 

incorporated in the PRC. In addition to the shares held by the co-founders, Beijing Bairong issued 

ordinary shares to third party investors after its incorporation. From November 2014 to February 2018, 

Beijing Bairong issued Series A, A+, B, B+, C redeemable convertible preferred shares to third party 

investors.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands in June 2018 with an authorised share 

capital of USD50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par value of USD0.0001 each. Upon 

incorporation, the Company issued 18,776,522 ordinary shares to the co-founders with a consideration 

of RMB13,000.

Pursuant to share subscription agreements with the investors on June 27, 2019, the Company issued 

22,237,437 ordinary shares to the third party investors of Beijing Bairong for a consideration of 

RMB177,829,000 (17,171,974 shares were issued at par for a total consideration of RMB3,000, and 

5,065,463 shares were issued for a total consideration of RMB177,826,000. The RMB177,826,000 

represents the cash consideration the shareholders paid for acquiring the ordinary shares of Beijing 

Bairong). In addition, the Company approved surrender of 735,050 ordinary shares by one of the co-

founders.
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31 Capital and reserves (Continued)
(a) Share capital (Continued)

The shareholders issued promissory notes to the Company with a total notional principal amount 

of RMB177,842,000. Under the promissory notes arrangement, the ordinary shareholders could 

draw an amount equal to their investment cost paid for the ordinary shares of Beijing Bairong from 

Beijing Bairong, which is capped at the principal amount of the promissory note. After drawing down 

the amount from Beijing Bairong, such ordinary shareholders are obliged to return such amount 

to Bairong Inc. to repay the promissory notes within 10 business days. The overall effect of those 

transactions will be to transfer a certain amount of cash from Beijing Bairong to the Company, with 

no net impact on cash. The promissory notes are regarded as being conditional with contractual rights 

to receive money from those shareholders only to the extent those shareholders have received equal 

amounts from Beijing Bairong first. In substance, the Company has granted a loan commitment to 

those shareholders. The Company considers the fair value of the short-term loan commitment to be 

immaterial.

On August 26, 2019, the Company repurchased 9,963,556 shares with a par value of US$0.0001 each 

from GeniAI Tech Ltd. for nil consideration and then promptly cancelled such shares.

On March 16, 2021, pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution, each existing issued and unissued share 

of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company were subdivided into 5 shares of US$0.00002 

each.

Upon completion of the IPO, the Company issued 123,822,500 new ordinary shares at par value 

of US$0.00002 each for cash consideration of HK$31.80 each, and raised gross proceeds of 

approximately HK$3,937,555,500. The respective share capital amount was approximately RMB16,000 

and share premium arising from the issuance was approximately RMB3,198,349,000, net of the share 

issuance costs.

Upon completion of the IPO, each issued Preferred Share was converted into ordinary shares by re-

designation and reclassification on a five for one basis and all the issued Preferred Shares were re-

designated and reclassified as ordinary shares. As a result, the redeemable convertible preferred 

shares were derecognized and recorded as share capital and capital reserve.
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31 Capital and reserves (Continued)
(a) Share capital (Continued)

As at September 29, 2021, the Company issued a total of 8,847,081 ordinary shares on the stock 

exchange of Hong Kong Limited to Rongtuo Holdings Limited for the settlement of 2019 ESOP share 

options. As at December 30 2021 and December 31, 2021, GeniAI Tech II Ltd purchased a total 

of 730,500 ordinary shares of the Company on the stock exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the 

settlement of 2019 ESOP share options. As Rongtuo Holdings Limited and GeniAI Tech II Ltd are 

consolidated entities of the Group as disclosed in Note 16, these shares were therefore recorded as 
“treasury shares” as at December 31, 2021.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group repurchased a total of 8,894,500 ordinary 

shares that had been listed on the stock exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The total amount to 

repurchase these ordinary shares was approximately equivalent to RMB118,272,000. As at December 

31, 2021, a total of 3,785,000 repurchased ordinary shares have been cancelled. The remaining 

repurchased shares were recorded as “treasury shares” as at December 31, 2021 at the amount of 

RMB60,739,000.

(b) Reserves

Note

Share 

premium

Share-based 

compensation 

reserve Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at December 31, 2019 and 

 January 1, 2020 – 109,993 36,347 146,340

Share-based compensation expenses (i) – 36,718 – 36,718

Balance at December 31, 2020 – 146,711 36,347 183,058

Share-based compensation expenses (i) – 22,787 – 22,787

Issuance of new shares (ii) 3,198,349 – – 3,198,349

Conversion of preferred shares (iii) 5,909,896 – – 5,909,896

Cancellation of shares (63,507) – – (63,507)

Balance at December 31, 2021 9,044,738 169,498 36,347 9,250,583

Notes

(i) Share-based compensation reserve arises from share-based payments granted to employees of the Company, see Note 30 
for detail.

(ii) Issuance of new ordinary shares arises from net proceeds from the IPO, see Note 31 (a) for detail.

(iii) Conversion of preferred shares arises from the conversion of redeemable convertible preferred shares, see Note 28 for 
detail.
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31 Capital and reserves (Continued)
(c) Dividends

During the years of 2021 and 2020, no dividends were declared by the entities comprising the Group 

to its owners.

(d) Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing 

access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance 

between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and 

the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the 

capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Except for Liming and Guangzhou Shurong, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are 

subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

In accordance with the rules issued by China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (CBIRC), 

the Group’s insurance brokerage subsidiary, Liming, sets aside cash funds as a liquidity reserve.

Guangzhou Shurong, the Group’s micro-loan subsidiary, regularly monitors the balance of the loans in 

relation to its paid-in capital, so as to comply with regulatory requirements.
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31 Capital and reserves (Continued)
(e) Movements in components of equity

The changes of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity during the years is set out in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of changes in the Company’s individual 

components of equity since its date of incorporation to December 31, 2021 are set out below:

Share 

capital

Treasury 

shares

Capital 

reserve

Accumulated 

deficit Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at December 31, 2019 19 – 109,992 (2,088,015) (1,978,004)

Changes in equity for 2020:

Loss for the year – – – (147,953) (147,953)

Repayment of the promissory notes 

 issued to the Company by the 

 shareholders – – 28,398 59,207 87,605

Share-based compensation – – 36,718 – 36,718

Balance at December 31, 2020 19 – 175,108 (2,176,761) (2,001,634)

Changes in equity for 2021:

Loss for the year – – – (3,756,911) (3,756,911)

Repayment of the promissory notes 

 issued to the Company by the 

 shareholders – – 415,221 524,661 939,882

Issuance of new shares 16 – 3,198,349 – 3,198,365

Conversion of preference shares 29 – 5,910,196 – 5,910,225

Cancellation of shares – 63,507 (63,507) – –

Repurchase of ordinary shares – (118,272) – – (118,272)

Share-based compensation – – 22,787 – 22,787

Balance at December 31, 2021 64 (54,765) 9,658,154 (5,409,011) 4,194,442
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments
Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and fair value measurement 

arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial 

risk management policies and practice used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 

in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the 

counterparties are banks and financial institutions with a minimum credit rating, for which the Group 

considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables
In respect of trade receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring 

credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making 

payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the 

customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade 

receivable are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms between 1 to 90 days. In some 

cases, these terms are extended for certain qualified long-term customers who have met specific 

credit requirements. The Group does not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its 

customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant 

concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual 

customers. As at December 31, 2020 and 2021, 17.26% and 1.31% of the total trade receivables was 

due from the Group’s five largest customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which 

is calculated using a provision matrix. The following table provides information about the Group’s 

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at December 31, 2021 and 2020:
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

December 31, 2021

Expected 

loss rate

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current 0.16% 239,474 387

Overdue within 3 months 1.9% 9,942 189

Overdue after 3 months but within 6 months 51.0% 3,288 1,677

Overdue more than 6 months 85.0% 711 604

253,415 2,857

December 31, 2020

Expected 

loss rate

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current 0.04% 167,478 67

Overdue within 3 months 1.9% 10,831 206

Overdue after 3 months but within 6 months 45.0% 2,931 1,319

Overdue more than 6 months 82.4% 1,506 1,241

182,746 2,833

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past recent years. These rates 

are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the 

historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions 

over the expected lives of the receivables.
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at January 1, (2,833) (7,354)

Loss allowance recognised during the year (369) (326)

Written off 345 4,847

Balance at December 31, (2,857) (2,833)

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 

sufficient cash to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 

without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements, and to ensure 

that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major 

financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of 

the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows 

(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at 

the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at December 31, 2021

contractual undiscounted cash outflow Carrying 

amounts in the 

consolidated 

statement of 

financial 

position

Within 1 year 

or on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years

More than 

5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 94,143 481 – – 94,624 94,624

Bank loans 52,009 – – – 52,009 51,000

Lease liabilities 52,217 39,193 19,821 – 111,231 107,164

Accrued expenses and 

 other current liabilities 406,216 – – – 406,216 406,216

604,585 39,674 19,821 – 664,080 659,004

As at December 31, 2020

contractual undiscounted cash outflow Carrying 

amounts in the 

consolidated 

statement of 

financial 

position

Within 1 year 

or on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years

More than 

5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 51,634 1,502 – – 53,136 53,136

Lease liabilities 53,855 43,223 51,813 – 148,891 131,335

Accrued expenses and 

 other current liabilities 142,033 – – – 142,033 142,033

247,522 44,725 51,813 – 344,060 326,504
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

In addition to the above maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, the Company has an 

obligation to redeem all redeemable convertible preferred shares at the redemption price of each 

series, if a qualified IPO is not consummated before the revised redemption date, i.e., September 11, 

2021. In November 13, 2020, the shareholders agreed to further extend such date to July 1, 2022. 

The maximum undiscounted contractual redemption payment associated with redeemable convertible 

preferred shares as at December 31, 2020 was approximately RMB1,873 million. As at December 31, 

2021, the preferred shares been converted into equity upon listing on March 31, 2021.

(c) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily 

from borrowings. The interest risk arising from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

and loans receivable is not significant due to the short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 

Borrowings issued at variable rates and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk 

and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

The Group’s interest-bearing liabilities at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are all fixed rate borrowings. 

Thus, the Group is not exposed to significant cash flow interest rate risk during the year.

(d) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets and liabilities 

are denominated in a currency that is not the Group entities functional currency. The functional 

currency of the Company and the subsidiaries operated in the PRC are RMB. The Group manages its 

foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures 

and tries to minimise these exposures through natural hedges, wherever possible, and may enter into 

forward foreign exchange contracts, when necessary.

The Group operates mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in RMB. Management 

considers that the business is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no 

significant financial assets or liabilities of the Group denominated in the currencies other than the 

respective functional currencies of the Group’s entities.
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(e) Fair value measurement

Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end 

of each reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy 

as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is 

classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the 

valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet 

Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which 

market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

As at December 31,

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Level 2

Assets

– Derivative financial assets 20,727 –

Level 3

Assets

– Trust plans (i) – 743,096

– Wealth management products (i) 300,334 63,005

– Unlisted equity securities (ii) 46,268 3,542

346,602 809,643

Liabilities

– Redeemable convertible preferred shares (iii) – 2,212,631

– 2,212,631
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3, except that 

redeemable convertible preferred shares were transferred out of Level 3 of fair value hierarchy 

classifications. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as 

at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurement:
(i) Trust plans and wealth management products

The carrying amount of trust plans and wealth management products are measured at fair 

values in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2020 and 2021. 

The Group determines the fair value of trust plans and wealth management products by using 

discounted cash flow models. The un-observable inputs are expected annual return rate fixed in 

the investment contracts. These expected annual return rates ranged from 2.3% to 5.8% and 

2.38% to 5.8% as of December 31, 2020 and 2021.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, it is estimated that with all other variables held constant, 

an increase/decrease of expected annual return rate by 1% would have decreased/increased the 

Group’s loss before taxation by RMB8.06 million and RMB3.00 million, respectively.

The movements of trust plans and wealth management products during the year in the balance 

of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year 806,101 545,695

Addition 5,848,595 6,671,070

Disposal (6,379,102) (6,437,668)

Change in fair value 24,740 27,004

At the end of the year 300,334 806,101
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurement: (Continued)
(ii) Equity securities

The carrying amount of equity securities are measured at fair values in the consolidated 

statement of financial position as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Group’s equity securities 

are investments in unlisted companies. The Group determines the fair value by reference to 

the recent transaction pricing for the entities or similar transactions in similar entities in same 

industry.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, it is estimated that with all other variables held constant, an 

increase/decrease in the fair values of equity securities by 1% would have decreased/increased 

the Group’s loss before tax by RMB0.04 million and RMB0.46 million respectively.

The movements of unlisted equity securities during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair 

value measurements are as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year 3,542 3,542

Addition 42,726 –

At the end of the year 46,268 3,542

Net unrealised gains for the year – –

(iii) Redeemable preferred shares

The Group adopted an equity allocation model to estimate the fair value of the redeemable 

preferred shares as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (see Note 28).

If the discount rate applied to the cash flow projections had been 1% lower or higher than 

management’s estimation as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 respectively, the value of 

redeemable preferred shares would exceed its fair value by the amounts listed in table below:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Discount rate decrease 1% – 55,719

Discount rate increase 1% – (64,507)
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32 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 
(Continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurement: (Continued)
(iii) Redeemable preferred shares (Continued)

The movements of redeemable preferred shares during the year in the balance of these Level 3 

fair value measurements are as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year 2,212,631 2,081,145

Change in fair value 3,697,294 131,486

Conversion to ordinary shares (5,909,925) –

At the end of the year – 2,212,631

33 Business combinations
(a) In October 2021, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement, along with a series of affiliated 

agreements, to acquire approximately 52.00% of the shares of All Union. The Group was able to 

obtain control of All Union on October 15, 2021 (the Acquisition Date) and started to consolidate the 

acquiree thereon.

The total consideration for the acquisition was RMB155.99 million in cash, of which RMB142.54 

million was settled in 2021. The remaining consideration was included in the accrued expenses and 

other current liabilities in the consolidated financial statements, and will be settled in April 2022.

The acquired business contributed revenue of RMB6.87 million and loss of RMB1.07 million to the 

Group for the period from the Acquisition Date to December 31, 2021.

Had All Union been consolidated from January 1, 2021, the consolidated income statements would 

show a revenue of RMB35.75 million and a loss of RMB4.07 million for the year 2021.
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33 Business combinations (Continued)
(b) The following table summarises the consideration transferred to acquire All Union and the amounts of 

identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the Acquisition Date, as well as the fair value of 

the non-controlling interest in All Union at the Acquisition Date:

October 15, 2021

RMB’000

Fair value of consideration transferred

Cash 155,988

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Cash and cash equivalents 46,944

Long-term equity investment 9,645

Property, plant and equipment 385

Intangible asset 34,400

Right-of-use assets 2,061

Trade receivables 5,477

Prepaid expense and other assets 92,208

Bank loans (41,000)

Trade payables (1,547)

Contract liabilities (2,445)

Lease liabilities (2,061)

Amount due to Bairong Ruicheng (25,000)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (95,129)

Non-controlling interests 509

Deferred tax liability (5,160)

Total identifiable net assets 19,287

Fair value of the non-controlling interest in All Union (9,258)

Goodwill 145,959

(c) The Group recognises non-controlling interests in an acquired equity either at fair value or at the non-

controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. This decision 

is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. For the non-controlling interests in All Union, the 

Group elected to recognise the non-controlling interests at its proportionate share of the acquired net 

identifiable assets. See Note 2(d)(ii) for the Group’s accounting policies for business combinations.
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34 Material related party transactions
(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group during the year is as follows:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,074 1,872

Discretionary bonuses 2,140 328

Retirement scheme contributions 90 16

Share-based payments 1,328 1,258

Key management personnel remuneration 7,632 3,474

35 Contingencies
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as of December 31, 2021.
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36 Company-level statement of financial position

December 31, December 31,

Note 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current asset

Investment in subsidiaries 16 1,286,948 146,710

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,210,620 3,414

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 562,135 73,228

Restricted cash 82,884 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 42,726 –

Derivative assets 20,727 –

2,919,092 76,642

Current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 11,598 12,355

11,598 12,355

Net current assets 2,907,494 64,287

Total assets less current liabilities 4,194,442 210,997

Non-current liabilities

Redeemable convertible preferred shares 28 – 2,212,631

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 4,194,442 (2,001,634)

Equity

Share capital 64 19

Treasury shares (54,765) –

Reserves 4,249,143 (2,001,653)

TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) 4,194,442 (2,001,634)

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 23, 2022.

Zhang Shaofeng Zhao Hongqiang

Director Director
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37 Events after the reporting period
(i) The Company cancelled 5,109,500 ordinary shares of the Company and converted 849,268 shares 

of class A ordinary shares to class B ordinary shares on February 21, 2022. The 5,109,500 class B 
ordinary shares were repurchased during the period from August 27, 2021 to November 12, 2021. 
Till then, all the repurchased shares repurchased by the Company during the year 2021 has been 
cancelled.

38 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued 
but not yet effective for the period beginning January 1, 2022
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a number of amendments, new 
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the accounting period beginning on January 
1, 2022 and which have not been adopted in the these financial statements. These include the following 
which may be relevant to the Group:

The revised and new accounting standards and interpretations but not yet effective for the period from 
January 1, 2022 are set out below:

Effective for 

accounting periods 

beginning on or after

Amendments to IFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework January 1, 2022

Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and 

 Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

January 1, 2022

Amendments to IAS 37, Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract January 1, 2022

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle January 1, 2022

Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current January 1, 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, 

 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

January 1, 2023

Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates January 1, 2023

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts January 1, 2023

Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and 

 Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

January 1, 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has concluded that the adoption of them 
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

39 Comparative amounts
Reclassifications have been made on some of the comparative amounts to ensure the comparability.
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Financial Summary

Condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss

For the year ended December 31,

(RMB in thousands)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
 

Revenue 1,623,464 1,136,532 1,261,942 858,491 354,005

Gross profit 1,194,628 838,137 971,792 625,657 243,664

Profit/(loss) from operations 80,037 31,825 (11,267) (39,856) (90,897)

Loss before taxation (3,596,645) (110,597) (97,807) (184,877) (348,117)

Loss for the year (3,604,033) (109,061) (94,140) (181,933) (353,477)

Loss for the year attributable to equity

 shareholders of the Company (3,603,016) (110,555) (93,165) (179,105) (344,710)

Non-IFRS profit/(loss) 141,160 80,044 13,071 (1,617) (83,190)

Non-IFRS EBITDA 233,455 166,511 87,380 36,859 (56,591)

Condensed consolidated statement of financial position

As at December 31,

(RMB in thousands)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
 

Non-current assets 442,490 252,298 292,090 133,467 116,505

Current assets 4,430,600 1,075,480 973,670 970,316 339,886

Current liabilities 635,489 279,933 2,328,450 305,322 149,387

Non-current liabilities 83,067 2,304,917 122,039 1,928,794 1,296,775

Net assets/(liabilities) 4,154,534 (1,257,072) (1,184,729) (1,130,333) (989,771)

Equity attributable to equity shareholders of 

 the Company 4,128,997 (1,274,818) (1,200,981) (1,147,257) (998,430)

Non-controlling interests 25,537 17,746 16,252 16,924 8,659

Total equity/(deficit) 4,154,534 (1,257,072) (1,184,729) (1,130,333) (989,771)
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Definitions

“2019 ESOP” the share incentive plan approved and adopted in August 2019, the principal 

terms of which are set out in “Statutory and general information-Share 

Schemes” in Appendix V in the Prospectus

“2021 ESOP” the post-IPO share option scheme conditionally approved and adopted by 

our Company on March 16, 2021, the principal terms of which are set out 

in “Statutory and general information-Share Schemes” in Appendix V in the 

Prospectus

“AGM” the annual general meeting of 2021 to be convened and held by the 

Company on Tuesday, May 31, 2022 or the adjournment thereof

“AI” artificial intelligence

“All Union” Beijing All Union Technology Corp. (北京眾聯享付科技股份有限公司), a joint 

stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

“Beijing Bairong”, “Onshore 

 Holdco” or “variable interest 

 entity”

Bairong Yunchuang Technology Co., Ltd. (百融雲創科技股份有限公司), a 

company established in China with limited liability on March 19, 2014 and a 

Consolidated Affiliated Entity of our Company

“Board” the board of Directors

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China and for the purposes of this document only, 

except where the context requires otherwise, references to China or the 

PRC exclude Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the 

People’s Republic of China and Taiwan
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Definitions (Continued)

“Class A Share(s)” class A ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a 

par value of US$0.00002 each, conferring weighted voting rights in our 

Company such that a holder of a Class A Share is entitled to ten votes per 

share on any resolution tabled at the Company’s general meetings, save for 

resolutions with respect to any Reserved Matters, in which case they shall 

be entitled to one vote per share

“Class B Share(s)” class B ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par 

value of US$0.00002 each, conferring a holder of a Class B Share one vote 

per share on any resolution tabled at the Company’s general meetings

“Companies Ordinance” the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as 

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Company”, “our Company”, 

 or “the Company”

Bairong Inc., a company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman 

Islands on June 21, 2018

“Consolidated Affiliated 

 Entity(ies)”

Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries and affiliated entities, the financial 

accounts of which have been consolidated and accounted for as if they were 

subsidiaries of our Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements

“Contractual Arrangement(s)” the series of contractual arrangements entered into between, among others, 

the WFOE, the Onshore Holdco and the then Registered Shareholders, as 

detailed in “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus and as amended, 

restated, renewed, reproduced or joined from time to time

“Controlling Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the 

context otherwise requires, refers to Mr. Zhang and the direct and indirect 

companies through which Mr. Zhang has an interest in the Company, 

namely Genisage Tech Inc., Genisage Holdings Limited, GeniAI Tech Ltd. 

and RongXing Trust
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Definitions (Continued)

“Corporate Governance Code” the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

“Director(s)” the director(s) of our Company

“FSP” financial services provider

“FSP clients” FSPs to which we provide our products and services, including paying FSPs 

whom we charge fees and non-paying FSPs who use our basic services free 

of charge as part of our promotional efforts

“Global Offering” the public offering of the Company’s Class B Shares as defined and 

described in the Prospectus

“Group”, “we” or “us” the Company, its subsidiaries, and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (the 

financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as 

subsidiaries of our Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements) 

from time to time, and in respect of the period prior to our Company 

becoming the holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries 

as if they were subsidiaries of our Company at the relevant time

“HK$” Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” or “HK” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of 

China

“HKFRS” Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
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Definitions (Continued)

“ICP licence” the value-added telecommunications business operating licence for internet 

information service

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board

“Key FSP clients” licenced financial institutions that each contributes more than RMB300,000 

total revenue in a given year

“Key FSP client retention rate” the percentage of the Key FSP clients we have in a given year that we 

continue to retain during the next twelve months

“Liming” Liming Insurance Brokers Co., Ltd. (黎明保險經紀有限公司), a company 

established in China with l imited l iabil ity on April 21, 2014 and a 

Consolidated Affiliated Entity of our Company

“Listing” the listing of the Class B Shares on the Main Board

“Listing Date” March 31, 2021, the date on which the Shares were listed on the Stock 

Exchange

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from 

time to time

“Main Board” the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock 

Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the 

Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
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Definitions (Continued)

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 

set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

“Mr. Zhang” or 

 “WVR Beneficiary”

Mr. Zhang Shaofeng, our founder, executive Director, chairperson, chief 

executive officer and Controlling Shareholder, as well as the holder of the 

Class A Shares entitling him to weighted voting rights

“net dollar expansion rate” a fraction, the denominator of which is the revenue contribution from Key 

FSP clients in one given year and the numerator of which is the contribution 

from the same group of Key FSP clients in the following year, expressed as 

a percentage

“paid subscription” In the context of our business, paid subscription by an FSP client in the 

context of our business means (i) a subscription based on usage, without an 

initial or recurring fee or (ii) an annual subscription that offers a standardised 

package with a pre-determined number or unlimited number of requests 

such FSP client may use during the term of the related service agreement

“paying FSP clients” FSP clients that had a paid subscription of our products and services and 

contributed to our revenue since our founding

“PRC Legal Adviser” Commerce & Finance Law Offices

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated March 19, 2021

“Registered Shareholders” the registered shareholders of the Onshore Holdco from time to time

“Reporting Period” the year ended December 31, 2021
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Definitions (Continued)

“Reserved Matters” those matters resolutions with respect to which each Share is entitled to 

one vote at general meetings of the Company pursuant to the Articles of 

Association, being: (i) any amendment to the Memorandum or Articles of 

Association, including the variation of the rights attached to any class of 

shares; (ii) the appointment, election or removal of any independent non-

executive Director; (iii) the appointment or removal of the Company’s 

auditors; and (iv) the voluntary liquidation or winding-up of the Company

“RMB” Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of China

“SaaS” software as a service

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Share(s)” the Class A Shares and Class B Shares in the share capital of our Company

“Shares Repurchased” a total of 8,894,500 Class B Shares repurchased by the Company during the 

Reporting Period

“Scheme Rules” the rules of the share award scheme adopted by the Board on May 28, 2021

“Share Award Scheme” the share award scheme constituted by the Scheme Rules as amended 

from time to time

“Share Schemes” the 2019 ESOP, the 2021 ESOP and the Share Award Scheme

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)
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Definitions (Continued)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“subsidiary” or “subsidiaries” has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance

“United States” or “U.S.” the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas 

subject to its jurisdiction

“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

“weighted voting right” or 

 “WVR”

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“WFOE” Tianjin Bairong Technology Co., Ltd. (天津百融科技有限公司), a company 

established in China on August 14, 2018 and a wholly owned subsidiary of 

our Company

“%” per cent
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